Annual Report

Ukrproduct Group

Annual Report 2018

Annual Report

Table of Contents

Chairman and ChiefExecutive Statement.

.3

The Board of Directors,

.5

RemunerationCommitteeReport.

.7

Corporate Governance Report.............................................................................................9
Corporate Social Responsibility Report............................................................................

12

Directors' Report...............................................................................................................

14

Statements of Directors' Responsibilities..........................................................................

17

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT.........................................................................

18

CONSOLIDATEDSTATEMENTOF COMPREHENSFVEINCOME ..........................23
CONSOUDATEDSTATEMENTOF FINANCIALPOSITION....................................24
CONSOUDATED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUmr

....................................

25

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ................................................... 26
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS...................................... ^?

Annual Report

Chairman and Chief Executive Statemen;

Trading
During the year to 31 December 2018 ("FY 2018"), the Ukrainian economy showed moderate growth,

accompanied by wage inflation, which has helped consumer confidence. Ukrproduct Group Ltd
("Ukrproduct", the "Company" or, together with its subsidiaries, "the Group") continued focusing on
cashgenerationwhile aimingto addressopportunities in exportmarkets, beveragesandB2B, as weUas
expandingits dairybusiness.
The Group reports improved revenue of approximately £36, 9 million (approximately 1. 3 billion UAH).
Gross profit in UAH terms increased 4. 3% to approximately 115 million UAH, however, in GBP terms,
the negative impact of exchange rate differences resulted in a decrease of 2. 5% to approximately £3.2
million.

The Group reports an operating profit of approximately £0. 2 million (approximately UAH 6.2 million)

in FY2018,comparedwith anoperatingprofit ofapproximately£0.5 million (approximatelyUAH 16.2
million) in 2017.

Overall, for FY 2018, the Companyrqrorts net profit ofapproximately£0. 1 million (approximately2.7
million UAH) compared to a loss of approximately £1. 1 million (approximately 40. 6 million UAH) in
2017. Net profit for 2018 is lower than previously expected (as announced on 7 May 2019) as a result of
increased operating expenses. Net profit for FY2018 included lower finance charges related to the

outstanding debt with EBRD, althoughtotal finance expenses increasedto approximately £0.5 million
(approximately 16. 2 million UAH) from approximately £0. 4 million (approximately 15. 1 million UAH)
in 2017.
Overall, the Group reports that its sales volumes have grown by 4%, including sales ofbranded products
in its key packaged butter and processed cheese segments. However, both export sales volumes and
revenue decreased due to the worldwide contraction of skimmed milk powder prices. Although the
Company continued to capitalise on its spare dairy processing capacity by acquiring new B2B partners,
Ukrproduct's B2B gross profit slightly decreased in 2018. Whilst gross profit of branded products
showed substantial growth, it was unfortunately offset by losses caused by the decline in both skimmed
milk powder and butter prices.

Salesof beverages significantlyincreased as a result of the Group's targeted marketing initiatives and
the introduction of new drinks.

Financial Position

As at 31 December 2018, Ukrproduct reports net assets of approximately £1. 0 million (approximately
35. 13 million UAH) and net current liabilities of approximately £0. 03 million (approximately 1. 05
million UAH), with cash balances of approximately £0. 2 million (approximately 6. 4 million UAH).
During FY 2018, the Group met its outstanding obligations, includmg the EBRD loan repayments, which

werepaidon schedulein the amountof 0.52 million.
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Outlook

Ukrproduct's strategy going forward is to generate cash by improving the profitability of its key dairy
product andbeverage segments and to further enhance its working capital position.
The Group expects to boost its sales volume and revenue in 2019 by launching new products in its key
business areas, introducing new marketing activities and capitalising farther on export opportunities.
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JackRowell

Alexander Slipchuk

Non-ExecutiveChairman

ChiefExecutive Officer
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The Board of Directors

As ofthe date ofthe approval ofthe 2018 Annual Report, the Board members are as follows:
Name

Position

JackRowell

Non-Executive Chairman

Sergey Evlanchik

Executive Du-ector

AlexanderSlipchuk

ChiefExecutiveOfficer
ChiefOperational Officer

Yuriy Hordiychuk

Date appointed
November 2004

April 2008
November 2004

January 2013

All directors werere-electedatAnnual GeneralMeeting(AGM) on 03 August2018.
Jack Rowell
Non-Executive Chairman

Dr. Rowell has acted as Chairman of a number of companies in the public and private sector, mainly
within the foodproduction industry. He waspreviously an executive director ontheboard ofDalgety pic
responsiblefortheconsumerfoodsdivision.JackalsoservedasChairmanofCelsispic. Hehasalsobeen
ManagerofBathRugby,thentheChampionsofEnglandandtheEnglishnationalteam. Priorto this,Dr.
Rowell was CEO of Golden Wonder Ltd. and Lucas Food Ingredients (also part of the Dalgety Food
Group). Hewaseducatedat OxfordUniversityandis a CharteredAccountant.
Alexander Slipchuk
Chief Executive Officer

Alexander Slipchuk is responsible for the Group's overall performance and strategy implementation and
is a founder of Ukrproduct. He studied at Far-Eastem High Engmeering Marine School in Russia and
graduatedas a maritime navigatorin 1989. Togetherwith SergeyEvlanchik,Alexander establishedthe
securitieshouseAlfa-Brokerm 1994,developedthe equitytradingbusinessin the fareastoftheRussian
Federation, and acquired initial stakes in the companies that later became part of the Group. In 1998,
Alexander took on the executive positions at the Molochnik and the Starakonstantinovskiy Dairy plants,
Ukrproduct'stwo main operatingassets.
SergeyEvlanchik
Executive Director

Sergey Evlanchik studied at Vladivostok State University of Economics & Service in the Russian
Federation and at Oxford University in the UK, where he received his MBA degree. Together with
AlexanderSlipchuk,he establishedthe equity-tradinggroup, Alfa-Brokerin 1994 in the FarEastofthe
RussianFederation.AftertherecessoftheRussianandUkrainianequitymarkets in 1998,MrEvlanchik
refocused his activities on business development in the industrial sector of Ukraine, particularly witfain
the dairy industry, where hejoined the companies that would subsequently form the Ukrproduct group
in 2004. Sergey then led the Group to its successful listing on the AIM market of the London Stock
Exchange in 2005.
Yuriy Hordiychuk
Chief Operational Officer

Yuri Hordiychukhasbeenwiththe Group since2002. Firstly, hewasDirector ofthe ProvisionofRaw
Materialsthen in 2005, he waspromoted to DirectorofProduction, before, in 2008, beingpromoted to
GeneralDirectoroftheCompanyand,ultimately, in 2013,beingappointedasChiefOperationalOfficer.
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Yuri has more than ten years of experience of administrative activity and a degree in "Production
Organization Management". In 2006, Mr. Hordiychuk graduated with an MBA from the School of
Economics (Russia) and earned a degree in "Logistics and Supply Chains Management".
Senior Management
Volodymyr Vardzielov
Chief Financial Officer
Volodymyr Vardzielov has been with the Group since April 2018 as Chief Financial Officer. He has a
Master's degree in Finance and possesses 24 years' professional experience in finance roles, including
15 years in managerialpositions.
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Remuneration Committee Report
Thisreport is preparedbythe RemunerationCommitteeoftheBoardand sets outthe Group'spolicy on
the remunerationofthe Directors, with a descriptionof service agreements andremunerationpackages
for each Director.
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises one Non-Executive Director, Jack Rowell. This Committee is
scheduled to meet at least twice per annum to advise the Board on the Group's remuneration strategy and
to determine the terms of employment and total remuneration of the respective Executive Directors of

the Group and ofits subsidiarycompanies, includingthe granting of share options. Among others, the
objective ofthis Committee isto attract, retain andmotivate Executives capable ofdelivering the Group's
objectives. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for the evaluation of the performance of
Executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during 2018.
Remuneration Policy
The Group's remuneration policy is to provide remuneration packages which:

.

.

.

are designed to attract, motivate and retain high calibre Executives;
are competitive and in line with comparable businesses;
are rooted in practices exercised in countries where the Group operates;

intendto aligntheinterestsoftheExecutiveswiththoseoftheshareholdersbymeansoffixedand
performance related remuneration; and

.

set challengingperformancetargets andmotivate Executivesto achievethose targetsboth in the
short and long-term.

Base salary

The Committee on an annual basis reviews base salaries of the respective Executive Directors of the
company and its subsidiaries, taking into account job responsibilities, competitive market rates and the

performance of the Executive concerned. Consideration is also given to the cost of living and the
Director's professional experience. While determining the base salaries, the Committee also considers

generalaspectsofthe employmentterms andconditionsofemployees elsewherein the Group.
Incentive Bonus Plans and Equity Arrangements

The Committee continues to plan to introduce long-term equity incentive arrangements to make the
overall Executive Remuneration structure more perfonnance-related, more competitive and aligned with

shareholders' interests subjectto animproving environmentin Ukraine.
Service contracts

The appointments ofthe respective Executive Directors ofthe company and its subsidiaries are valid for

anindefiniteperiodandmaybeterminatedwiththreemonths' notice givenby eitherparty atanytime.
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TheGroup'spolicy, includingforindividualsubsidiaries,forcompensationforlossofofficeistoprovide
compensationthatreflects the Group'sor a subsidiary'scontractual obligations.
Bonus Scheme

The Committee has established a cash bonus scheme for Executive Directors based on the overall

performance ofthe Group and/orrespective subsidiarycompany and attainment ofthe operatingprofit
targets. No bonus awards were made for FY 2018.
Non-Executive Directors

The appointments ofnon-executiveDirectors are valid for an indefiniteperiod and may be terminated
with three months notice given by either party at any time. The decisionto re-appoint, as well as the
determination of the fees of the non-executive Directors, rests with the Board. The non-executive

Directors may accept appointments with other companies, althoughany such appointment is subjectto
the Board's approval, terms, andconditionsofServiceAgreements.
Directors' remuneration
Details ofthe Directors' cash remuneration are outlined below:
Annual Salary/fee

Bonus

Non-cash
compensation

Total cash
remuneration

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£ 000

£ 000

Executive

45,0
35,0

45,0

35,0

45,0
35,0

15,0

15,0

95,0

15,0
95,0

45,0
35,0
15,0

95,0

95,0

Dr Jack Rowell

22,5

23,6

22,5

23,6

General manager
Yuriy Hordiychuk*

13,9

18,1

13,9

18,1

Alexander Slipchuk
SergeyEvlanchik
Yuriy Hordiychuk
Non-Executive

*Thisrelatesto feespaidto YuriyHordiychukfor generalmanagementservicesundera separatecontract
to his service contract.

Sharebasedpayments
As at 31 December 2018 there are no outstanding options issued by Group.
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Corporate Governance Report
Corporate Governance Policy
As an AIM-quoted company, the Company is required to apply a recognised corporate governance code,
demonstrating how the Group complies with such corporate governance code and where it departs from
it.

The Directors ofthe Company have formally made the decision to apply the QCA Corporate Governance
Code (the "QCA Code"). The Board recognises the principles of the QCA Code, which focuses on the
creation ofmedium to long-term value for shareholders without stifling the entrepreneurial spirit in which
small to medium sized companies, such as UPG, have been created. The Company will provide annual
updates on its compliance with the QCA Code in its Annual Report.
Thekey governancerelatedmatter that occurred duringthe financialyear ended31 December2018 was
the formal adoption ofthe QCA Code.
The Board

The Board consists ofthree Executive Directors and one Non-Executive Chairman, being the Chairman,
reflecting a blend of different experience and backgrounds. The Board considers Jack Rowell to be
classified as an independent Non-Executive Director under die QCA guidelines.
The Board meets four times a year. At these quarterly meetings the Board, inter alia, discusses the
implementation of strategy, reviews financial progress and evaluates the individual and collective
accountability of the Board.
The Group's day-to-day operations are managed by the Executive Directors. All Directors have access
to the Company Secretary and any Director needing independentprofessional advice in the furtherance
oftheir duties may obtain this advice at the expense of the Group.
The Board is satisfied that it has a suitable balance between independence on the one hand, and
knowledge of the Company on the other, to enable it to discharge its duties and responsibilities
effectively, and that all Directors have adequate time to fill their roles.
Details of the current Directors, their roles and background are set out on the Company's website
at http://ukrproduct. com/en/kompaniva/management-structure/.

Therole ofthe Chairmanis to provide leadershipofthe Board and ensure its effectiveness on all aspects
of its remit to maintain control of the Group. In addition, the Chairman is responsible for the
implementation and practice of sound corporate governance. The Chairman is considered indqaendent
and has adequate separation from the day-to-day running of the Group.
The role of the Chief Executive Officer is for the strategic development of the Group and for
communicatingit clearly to the Boardand, once approvedbythe Board, for implementing it. In addition,
the ChiefExecutiveOfficeris responsible for overseeingthe managementofthe Group andits executive
management.
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Application of the QCA Code

It istheBoard'sjob to ensurethattheGroup ismanaged forthe long-term benefitofall shareholders and
other stakeholders with effective and efficient decision-making. Corporate governance is an important

part of that job, reducing risk and adding value to the Group. The Board will continue to monitor the
governanceframeworkoftheGroup as it grows.

The Company remains committed to listening to, and communicating openly with, its shareholders to
ensure that its sfrategy, business model andperformance are clearly understood. The AGM is a forum
for shareholders to engage in dialogue with the Board. The results of the AGM will be published via
RNS and onthe Company's website. Regular progress reports are also made via a Regulatory Information
Service. The point ofcontact for shareholders is Volodymyr Vardzielov, CFO Volodvmvr.Vardzielov(%ukrDroduct.com

The Company's management maintains a close dialogue with local communities and its workforce.
Whereissues areraised,the Boardtakesthe matters seriouslyand,where appropriate, steps aretakento
ensure that these are integrated into the Company's strategy.

Boththeengagement withlocal communities andtheperformance ofall activities in anenvironmentally
and socially responsible way are closely monitored by the Board and ensure that ethical values and
behaviours are recognised.
Corporate Governance Committees
The Board has two committees comprising the following:
The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists ofJackRowell (Non-Executive Chairman). The terms ofreference ofthe
Audit Committee are to assist all the Directors in discharging the mdividuals of appropriate ability and
experienceandto help in promotingthe following:

.

The Group's financial andaccounting systems provide accurate andup-to-date information onits
current financialposition, includingall significantissuesandgoingconcern;

.

The integrity of the Group's financial statements and any formal announcements relating to the
Group's financial performance and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments contained
therein are monitored;

.

The Group's published financial statements represent a true and fair reflection of this position;
and taken as a whole are balanced and understandable, providing the informationnecessaryfor
shareholders to assess the Group's performance, business model and strategy;

.

The external audit is conducted in an independent, objective thorough, efficient and effective
manner, through discussions with management andthe external auditor; and

.

A recommendation is made to the Board for it to put to shareholders at a general meeting, in
relation to the reappointment, appointment and removal ofthe external auditor and to approve the
remunerationandterms ofengagementofthe externalauditor.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of Jack Rowell (Non-Executive Chairman). The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee are to:

.

recommend to the Board a framework for rewarding senior management, including Executive
Directors, bearing in mind the need to attract and retain individuals ofthe highest calibre andwith
the appropriate experience; and

.

ensure that the elements ofthe remunerationpackageare competitive andhelp in promoting the
Group.

Nominations Committee

GiventheCompany'ssize,theBoardhasnotconsideredit appropriateto havea NominationsCommittee.
Internal control

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Group's system of internal control, which is
designed to ensure adherence to the Group's policies whilst safeguarding the assets of the Group, in
addition to ensuring the completeness and accuracy of the accounting records. Responsibility for
implementing a systemofinternalfinancialcontrol is delegatedto VolodymyrVardzielov,theCFO.The
essential elements ofthe Group's internal financialcontrol proceduresinvolve:
.

.

Strategic business planning: strategic business planning is undertaken annually. This includes
financial budget for the following year.

Performance review, the Directors aim to monitor the Group's performance through the preparation
ofmonthly management accounts and regular reviews of expenditure and projections.

® The internal control system: the internal control system is further enforced by the Group's internal
audit department with the main objectives of ensuring the safety of the Group's assets and the
reliability of accounting records.
Departure from the QCA Code

In accordance with the AM Rules for Companies, the Company departs from the QCA Code in the
following ways:
Principle 5: "Maintain the board as a well-functioning, balanced team led by the chair."
The Company does not comply with the recommendation of Principle 5 that the Board should have at
least two independent non-executive directors. The Company only has one Non-Executive Director, the
Chairman, who is considered independent, but has three Executive Directors. The Executive Directors

havevaluable industryknowledgeand are integral to the runningofthe business. The Chairmanhas an
extensive business experience at the Board level especially in the Food mdustry.
Principle 7 - "Evaluate board performance based on clear and relevant objectives, seeking
continuous improvement."

The Board is small and extremely focussed on implementing the Company's strategy. However, given
the size and nature of the Company, the Board does not consider it appropriate to have a formal

performance evaluationprocedure m place, as described and recommended in Principle 7 of the QCA
Code. The Board will closely monitor the situation as it grows.
JackRowell
Chairman
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report
Corporate Social Responsibility

The Board is committed to developing and implementing corporate social responsibility (CSR) policies
aimed at:

.

Promoting equality and fairness among employees, partners and suppliers

.

Ensuring safe working conditions

.

Maintainingthe Group's corporatereputationanddedicationto businessethics

.

Supporting the communities in which the Group operates

.

Establishinglong-term andhealthyrelationshipswiththe Group'spartners, customers and other
affiliatedparties.

Themainelements ofthe Group's approachtowardsfulfillingthe aboveobjectives are as follows:
Employees

The Group is committed to ensuring equal opportunities to all its employees, both current and
prospective. Each employee's efforts are highly valued and the Board believes that a diverse mix ofthe
workforce facilitates innovation, efficiency and teamwork. As a matter of corporate policy, regular
training and development workshops are conducted for Ukrproduct's staff. These are aimed at all
employee groups, includingmanagerial, technical andproductionpersonnel. The training programmes
encourage staffto progress up the career ladder and are central to the Group's continuing growth and
success.

Health and safety

Management at business units within the Group are responsible for developing and maintaining the
underlying practices that provide for a safe working environment. Special attention is given to the
production facilities, where the equipment, including lighting, air conditioning, workspace and other
constituents, undergo constant reviews and improvements. Regular monitoring is carried out to ensure

that the required standards are met and that employees use the provided communication channels to
further improve their surroundingworking conditions.
Customers

Customer satisfaction is at the core of the Group's business model. Therefore, the Board is keen to
continue supplying the customers with high quality, affordable products required by current market
demands.TheGroup's segmentationpracticesareaimedat segregatingvarious customergroupsin order
tomeettheirrespectiveneedswithmaximumefficiency.Inaddition,regularmarketresearchandsurveys
are conductedto ensuremaximumvalue is consistently offeredto customers.
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Environment

The Group recognises the importance of good environmental practices and seeks to minimise any
negative impact that its operations orproducts might have ontheproduction sites and surrounding areas.
The Group adoptedthe environmental laws andregulationsofUkraineto reduce, control and eliminate
various types of pollution and to protect natural resources. Ukrproduct monitors and controls all its

production facilities regularly in order to ensure that air quality is not adversely impacted by its
operations. The Group focuses on cutting water and energy consumption, as well asreducing the volumes
of waste. Collection and processing of waste have been organised through the local waste collection

plants. The Group's development programme puts specific emphasis on acquiring andinstalling onlythe
most advanced and environmentally friendly production andauxiliary equipment.
Food safety

Food safety is one of key priorities for the Group. Ukrproduct is committed to produce high quality and
safe food and ensures that high standards are maintained within its supplier base. The certified food safety
management system incompliance with ISO22000 wasimplemented bythe Group. This system provides
the possibility of fully monitoring all production stages - from forage control and sound health of the
cattleto the finalproduct distribution.
Community support

The Group is keen to further enhance and maintain its partnership with local communities by supporting
their initiatives and charitable events. The Group contributes cash donations and gifts, as well as
employeetime, by encouragingstaffto participate as volunteers.
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Directors' Report
TheDirectors present their report andthe audited consolidated financial statements ofUkrproduct Group
Ltd(referredto asthe "Company"andtogetherwithits subsidiaries,"the Group") forthe yearended31
December2018.
Principal Activities and business review

Ukrproduct is a holdingcompanyfor a group offoodandbeveragesbusinesseslocated in Ukraine. The
principal activities of the Group are the production and distribution of highly branded dairy foods and
beverages (kvass) in Ukraine and the export ofmilk powder. The Group is one ofthe leadingbranded
food producers in Ukraine with its own nationwide distribution network. More detailed commentary on
the Group's activities during the year, its financial performance, future plans, andprospects are outlined
in the Chairman and Chief Executive Statement.
Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the year are set out on page 23 and show a net profit for the year of
approximately£0. 1 million (2017:net loss ofapproximately£1. 1 million).
The Board has decided not to recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017:Nil).
Directors

Detailsofmembers oftheBoardofDirectorsare shownonpage 5.
The Director's interests in the share capital of the company as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2017 are shown below:
Shares

2018

2017

14, 967, 133
14, 939, 133

14, 967, 133
14, 939, 133

138, 690

138, 690

Share options
2018
2017

Executive

Sergey Evlanchik
Alexander Slipchuk
Non-executive
Dr Jack Rowell

Powers of the Directors

Subject to the Company's Memorandum and Articles ofAssociation, Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, as
amended and any directions given by special resolution, the business ofthe company shall be managed
by the Directors who may exercise all such powers of the company. The rules in relation to fhe
appointmentandreplacementofDirectors are set out in the Company'sArticle ofAssociation.
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FinancialRisks Facingthe Group

Theprincipal financial risks ofthe business are credit risk, liquidity risk andmarket risk, including fauvalue or cash flow interest-rate risk and foreign exchange risk. The main purpose of the Group's risk
management programme isto evaluate, monitor andmanagetheserisks andto minimise potential adverse

effectsontheGroup'sfinancialperformance andshareholders. TheChiefFinancialOfficeroftheGroup
is in chargeofriskmanagement andintroduction ofall policies asapproved bythe BoardofDirectors.
For further details of the Group's risk management please see Note 5 on page 58-62.
Employees

The Group is committed to ensuring provision ofequal opportunities for all employees, which is reflected

by its selection, recruitment and trainmg policies. The Group considers its employees to be one of its
most valuable assets and rewards high performance through competitive remuneration and incentive

schemes. The Directors also consider it a priority to give employees the opportunity to communicate

their ideas and opinions to all levels ofmanagement, both directly and through various surveys. The
average number of employees of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2018 was 852 (2017'
899).

Payment Policy

The Group has a general set ofguidelines for paying its suppliers basedon specific criteria. However, it
isnormal practice to agreepayment terms witha specific supplierwhenentering into a purchasecontract.
TheGroup seeksto abidebythepayment terms agreedwheneverit is satisfiedthatthe goodsor services
have been provided in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions.
Gkring concern

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Group is able to
continue its operations on a going concernbasis for the foreseeable future.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, net profit amounted to approximately £0. 1 million (year ended
31 December 2017 net loss of approximately £1. 1 million). As at 31 December 2018, the Group
continued to breach certain loan covenant terms of its loan with European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development("EBRD").

These conditions indicate a significant uncertainty with regard to the Group's ability to continue its
operations on a going concernbasis.

According to the Company's management, the Group's ability to continue its operations on a going
concern basis is permissible based on the following assumptions:
1.

The Group receivedwaivers from EBRD - in respect ofthe annual financial statements for 2018
and the first quarter of 2019 and the Board believes that EBRD will not demand accelerated
repayment of the loan due to the breach of covenants;

2.

The Group continues to repaythe loanto EBRD accordingto the agreement andtimely settledthe
lasttwotranchesafterthereporting date;
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3.

On7 February2018, theCompany announced that it hadentered into anagreement for a newloan

facility with PJSCCreditwest Bank ("Creditwest Bank"), under whichit could draw downup to
UAH 65 million forrefmsmcmg purposes (to repaythe OTPBank Loan) aswell asfor financing
working capital ("New Loan Agreement"). All amounts drawn down by the Group under the New
Loan Agreement, together with interest accrued, is due to be repaid on 5 Febmary 2021. The
interest rate under the New Loan Agreement is fixed at 18% per annum. Any draw down under the

facility is secured on appropriate collateral provided by the Group (real estate, equipment etc),
including non-current assets located in Zhytomyr and equipment for production ofZhiviy Kvass.
On 9 February 2018, the Group announced that it had drawn down UAH 32. 3 million under the

terms of the New Loan Agreement in order to fully repay all amounts outstanding to OTP Bank.
Accordingly, the Group extinguished all outstanding liabilities to OTP Bank.
4.

The Group is planning to raise fundmg in H2 2019.

The Group's current strategy is to further expand its export sales worldwide with a focus on Asia and
Africa. CIS markets also remain strategically important for Ifae Group not least Kazakhstan where the
Company increased its export volumes. Ukrproduct is also looking to expanddomestic salesinUkraine

driven inpartbythe introduction ofnewproducts andrebranding. TheGroup continues to boostitsdairy
processing volumes via close cooperation with local farmers and cooperatives, thereby increasing its
capacityutilisation.

Annual GeneralMeeting

Ukiproduct's AGM will be held on July 30, 2019. The Notice ofAGM and agenda will be sent to
shareholders no less than21 dayspriorto the dateofthemeeting.
Auditors

Moore Stephens Audit & Assurance (Jersey) Limited was appointed asthe Group's auditors forthe 2018

financial yearbythe resolution ofthe Directors held on 04 December, 2018. A resolution to reappoint
them will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.
Statement as to disclosure of information to the auditor

All ofthecurrent Directorshavetakenthenecessarystepstomakethemselves awareofanymformation
needed by the Group's auditors for thepurposes oftheir audit andto establish that the auditors are aware
ofthat information. The Directors are not aware of any relevant audit information of which the auditors
are unaware.
If .
,

.

'/

-.'^//

Jack Rowell
Chairman

26 June2019
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Statements of Directors' Responsibilities
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance

with applicable Jersey law and other regulations and enactments in force at the time. The Companies
(Jersey) Law 1991 as amended requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each year in
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. Under that law, the directors have elected

to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. Under company Law, the directors must not
approve the consolidated financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a tme and fair view
ofthe state of affairs ofthe Group and ofits profit or loss for the period ended.
Inpreparing theseconsolidated financial statements, the directors arerequired to:
.

select suitable accountmg policies andthen apply them consistently;

.

makejudgments andestimates that arereasonable andprudent;

.
.

state that the financial information complies with IFRS, subject to any material departures

disclosed andexplained in theconsolidated financial statements; and

prepare the consolidated financial statements onthegoing concern basisunless it isinappropriate
to presume that the Group will continue in business.

Theboardofdirectors confirms thattheGroup hascomplied withtheabovementioned requirements in

preparing its consolidated financial statements.

Thedirectors are also responsiblefor:

.
.

implementing andmaintainmg anefficient andreliable system ofinternal controls in IfaeGroup;
keepingproperaccountingrecordsthatdisclosewithreasonableaccuracyatanytimethefinancial
positionofthe Group;

.

taking reasonable steps to safeguard the assets ofthe Group andto prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities; and

.

the maintenance and integrity of the Group's website.

. ^v^.

-A^^^

On behalf of the Directors:

26 June2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UKRPRODUCT GROUP LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the FinancialStatements
Opinion

WehaveauditedtheconsolidatedfinancialstatementsofUkrproductGroup Limitedandits subsidiaries
(the "Group")whichcomprisethe consolidatedstatementoffinancialposition as at 31 December2018,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, consolidated statement ofcashflow andnotes to the financial statements including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The fmancial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable lawand International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS') as adopted by the
EuropeanUnion.
Diour opinionthe financial statements:
.
.

give a tme and fair view of the state of the Group's affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of its
results for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with the IFRS as adopted by the European Union; and

.

havebeenpreparedin accordancewiththerequirementsofthe Companies(Jersey) Law 1991.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent ofthe Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit ofthe

consolidated financial statements in Jersey, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed
entities, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern

Wehavenothingto reportm respectofthe followingmattersinwhichtheISAs(UK) requireusto report
to you where:

.

the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate, or

.

the directors have not disclosedin the financial statements any identifiedmaterial uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when financial statements
are authorised for issue.
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GROUP LIMITED (CONTINUED)
Key Audit Matters

Key auditmatters arethosemattersthat, in ourprofessionaljudgment, wereofmost significancein our
audit of the consolidated fmancial statements of the current period and include the most significant
assessedrisks ofmaterialmisstatement (whetherdueto fraud) weidentified, includingthosewhichhad
the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation ofresources in the audit; and directing the
efforts ofthe engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit ofthe financial

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
these matters.
Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in the audit

Risk offraud in revenue recognition

Ourmain auditprocedures over these revenues were

Refer to Note 8 to the consolidated financial

as follows:

statements

.
Revenue is material and an important
determinant of the Group's performance and
profitability. This gives rise to inherent risk
that revenue recognised is overstated in order
to present more profitable results for the year.
The Group generates revenue from local and
export sales ofmilk, dairy foods andbeverages
amounted to £36. 93 million, excluding the
charge ofbonuses. Given the magnitude ofthe

.

.

analysis of the effectiveness of design and
implementation of controls related to revenue
recognition processes employed by the Group.
We performed test of details for accuracy and
occurrence of sales transaction during the year.

We

performed

analytical

procedures,

including gross profit margin analysis and
obtained explanations for significant variances
as compared to previous year;

amount and the inherent risk of revenue
overstatement,
we
consider
revenue

recognition to be a key audit matter.

Weobtainedanunderstandingthepoliciesand
procedures applied to revenue recognition, as
well as compliance therewith, including an

.

We performed journal entries testing for
accounts related to identified risks of material
misstatement and verified them with

.

supporting documents
We performed sales cut-off procedures for
sample revenue transactions at year end in

order to conclude on whether they were
recognized at the proper period.
.

We reviewed the disclosures included in the

notes to the accompany consolidated financial
statements.

Key Observations
We did not note any material issues from the

proceduresinthis area.
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GROUP LIMITED (CONTINUED)
Our application of materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatements in the consolidated financial statements that

makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed
or influenced. We use materiality in determining the nature, timing and extent of our auditwork and in
evaluating the results ofthat work. Materiality was determined as follows:
Consolidatedfinancialstatements as a whole:
£369k which is approximately 1% of Total Revenue. This benchmark is considered the most

appropriate because we believe that, this is primary measure used by the shareholders in assessing the
performance ofthe Group.
An overview of the scope of our audit

During our audit planning, we determined materiality and assessed the risks ofmaterial misstatement in

the consolidated financial statements including the consideration of where Directors made subjective
judgements, for example, in respect of the assumptions that underlie significant accounting estimates
and their assessment of future events that are inherently uncertain. We tailored the scope of our audit
in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as a whole taking into account the Group, its accounting processes and controls and the
industryin whichit operates.
Other information

Ttie Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report set out on page 3 to 17 other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audits ofthe consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our

knowledge obtained in the audits or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there
is a material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements or a material misstatement of other

information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report fhat fact.
Wehavenothingto report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENTAUDITOR'SREPORTTO THE SHAREHOLDERSOF UKRPRODUCT

GROUP LIMITED (CONTINUED)
Matters on whichwe are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

.
.
.
.

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or
returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the fmancial statements arenot in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors for the consolidated financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities on page 17, the Directors are
responsible for the prq)aration ofthe consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view,
and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidatedfinancialstatementsthatarefree frommaterialmisstatement, whetherdueto fraudor error.
Inpreparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors areresponsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or
to ceaseoperations, or haveno realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Ourobjectives are to obtainreasonableassuranceaboutwhetherthe consolidated financialstatements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can

arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is
located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: www. frc. org. uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
descriptionformspart ofour auditor'sreport.
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GROUP LIMITED (CONTINUED)
Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Group's shareholders as a body, in accordance with Article 113A of

the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Group's shareholders those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Group and the Group's shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.

3
PhiUip Callow

For and on behalf ofMoore Stephens Audit & Assurance (Jersey) Limited
First Island House
Peter Street
St Helier

Jersey
Channel Islands

JE24SP
Dated:

z^ W[o\°}
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Ukrproduct Group
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FORTHE YEAR ENDED31 DECEMBER2018
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)

Note

Revenue
Cost of sales

GROSSPROFIT
Administrative expenses
Selling and distribution expenses
Other operating expenses
PROFITFROM OPERATIONS
Net finance expenses
Net foreign exchange gain (loss)

PROFIT/ (LOSS)FORTHEYEAR

Year ended
31 December

2018
£'000

£'000

2017

8

36 928

30525

9

(33 751)

(27267)

3177

3258

9

(1 061)

(1 031)

9

(1 799)

9

(131)

(1 561)
(156)

11
10

186
(494)
398
90

PROFIT/ (LOSS)BEFORETAXATION
Incometax expense

Year ended
31 December

510

(437)
(1 250)

(1177)
62

13
90

(1115)

90

(1115)

0, 23
0,23

(2,81)
(2,81)

(8)

(113)

(8)
82

(113)
(1 228)

82

(1 228)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent

Non-controlling interests
Earnings per share:
Basic (pence)
Diluted (pence)
OTHERCOMPREHENSIVEINCOME:
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Currency translation differences
Items that will not be reclassifiedto profit or loss
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Incometax in respect ofrevaluationreserve
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVEINCOMEFORTHE YEAR
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent

Non-controlling interests
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Ukrproduct Group
CONSOLIDATEDSTATEMENTOF FINANCIALPOSITION
ASAT 31 December 2018
fin thousandGBP, unless otherwise stated)

As at

As at

31 December

31 December

£'000

2017
£'000

14

6 420

6288

15

524
6944

543
6831

17
18
19
20
21

3 735
3156
349
24
181
7445
14389

2426

Note

"-20lT

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Current taxes
Other financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital
Sharepremium
Translation reserve
Revaluation reserve

2171
271

30
496

5394
12225

22

3 967

23

4 562

23
23

(14 902)
3 619
3718
964

3967
4562
(14 894)
3769
3478
882

964

882

5 208
467

5716
459

274

262
6437

Retained earnings
Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY
Non-Current Liabilities
Bank loans

24

Long-term payables

16

Deferred tax liabilities

5949
Current liabilities
Bank loans

24

2 455

1318

25

5 008

TOTAL LIABILITIES

13
7476
13425

3565
23
4906
11343

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

14389

12225

Trade and other payables
Other taxespayable

Theseconsolidatedfinancialstatementswere approvedandauthorisedfor issuebythe BoardofDirectors
on 26 June 2019 and were signed on its behalfby

^=
^^^

^, t<-*

Alexander Slipchuk,
Chief executive officer
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Ukrproduct Group

CONSOLIDATEDSTATEMENTOF CHANGESIN EQUITY
AS AT 31 December 2018

fin thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)

Non-

Attributable to owners ofthe parent

Total

con-

Total

trolling

Equity

interests

As At 1 January

2017

Share

Share

Revaluation

Retained

Translation

capital

premium

reserve

earnings

reserve

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£ '000

3 967

4 562

3935

4427

(14781)

2110

2110

(1115)

(1115)

(113)

(113)

(113)

(113)

(1 228)

(1 228)

(14894)

882

882

90

90

(8)

(8)

(8)

(8)

82

82

(14 902)

964

964

(1 115)

Loss for the year
Other
comprehensive

£ '000

£'000

income

Currency translation
differences

Total
comprehensive

(1 115)

income

Depreciationon
revaluation of

property, plant and
equpment
As At 31 December

2017

3967

4562

(166)

166

3769

3478
90

Profit for the year
Other

comprehensive
income

Currency translation
differences
Total

90

comprehensive
income

Depreciation on
revaluation of

property, plant and
equipment
As At 31 December

2018

3 967

4 562

(150)

150

3619

3 718
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Ukrproduct Group
CONSOLIDATEDSTATEMENTOF CASH FLOWS
AS AT 31 December 2018

(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)
Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018
£'000

2017
£'000

90

(1 177)

10

(398)

1250

9

523

553

9

4

8

21
72

(5)

494
806

437
1148

(1380)
(1 096)

(653)

1437

473

(1 039)

118
1266

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Gain (loss) before taxation
Adjustments for:
Exchange difference
Depreciation and amortisation
Loss on disposal ofnon-current assets
Write offofreceivables/payables
Impairment of inventories
Loss from disposal of subsidiaries
Interest income

Interest expenseonbankloans
Operationcashflow beforeworkingcapital changes

11
11

Increase in inventories

Decrease / (Increase) in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Changes in working capital

(233)

Cash(used in)/ generatedfrom operations

82

298

Interest received

2

1

Income tax paid
Net cash (used in)/ generated from operating activities

1

(31)

(230)

1236

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

(181)

(93)

7

(174)

(15)
(107)

(421)

(378)

Proceedsfrom sale ofproperty, plant andequipment

1

Repayments of loans issued
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid
Decrease in short term borrowing
Repayments of long term borrowing
Net cash (used in)/ generated from financing activities

24

901
24

(259)

21

(637)

(383)

Net Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Effect ofexchangerate changeson cashandcashequivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cashand cashequivalents at the end ofthe year

(459)

21

68
496
181

492

(171)
175
496
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Ukrproduct Group
NOTESTO CONSOLIDATEDFINANCIALSTATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

fin thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)

1.

GROUPAND PRINCIPALACTIVITIES

(a)

Introduction

Ukrproduct Group Limited ("the Company") is a public limited liability company registered in Jersey
with a registered office at 26New Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE2 3RA, Channel Islands.

The Group's overall management andproduction facilities are based in Ukraine, with the HQ in Kyiv.
The Group commands leading positions in the Ukrainian processed cheese and packaged butter markets
and owns a range ofwidely recognisable trademarks in Ukraine, including "Nash Molochnik" (translated
as Our Dairyman), "Narodniy Product" (People's Product) "Molendam" and "Vershkova Dolina"
(Creamy Valley). The average number of employees of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2018 was 852 (2017: 899).
(b)

Share capital

Significantshareholdersofthe Companyas at 31 Decemberareasfollows:

Ukrproduct Group
Slipchuk Alexander

EvlanchikSergey

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018

2017

34, 89%
34, 96%

34, 89%

34,96%

As at 31 December 2018, 7, 34% ofthe Company's issued share capital was held in treasury.
(c)

Ukrainian environment

In 2018, there were some signals ofstrengthening ofthe Ukrainian economy.
According to the National Bank of Ukraine GDP of Ukraine in 2018 grew by 3. 3% (vs. growth of2. 1%
in 2017; growth of2. 3% in 2016; decline of 9. 9% in 2015 anddecline of6. 6% in 2014).
State Statistic Service ofUkraine estimated inflation in Ukraine in 2018 at 9. 8% (13. 7% in 2017, 12.4%
in 2016, 43. 3% in 2015 and24. 9% in 2014).

In 2018, for the first time since 2013, the national currency (hryvnia) strengthened by 1.4% (vs.
devaluation by 3. 1% in 2017, 11.7% in 2016, 34. 3% in 2015 and 49. 3% in 2014).
Banks startedto expandlendingto enterprises in 2018.
The labor migration ofUkrainians has increased due to a visa-firee regime with the European Union. The
shortage of professional workers in many industries caused a visible rise in wages for the necessary
personnel in Ukraine in 2018.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED31 DECEMBER2018

(in thousandGBP, unless otherwisestated)

(c) Ukrainianenvironment (continued)

2018yearwasthe extremely favorable forlate crops inUkraine. Accordingto theMinistry ofAgrarian
PolicyandFoodofUkraine in2018Ukrainian farmers received a recordharvest ofgrainin thehistory
ofUkraine - 70. 1 million tonnes (+14% vs. 2017), including 34.5 million tonnes ofcorn. Di addition,
recordcrophasbeencollectedofsomeoilseeds. Sunflowerharvestin2018amounted 13. 7 milliontonnes

- 12%morethanin2017(theprevious recordwassetin2016-13. 6 milliontonnes). Also, a recordyield
of soybeans was received - 4.4 million tonnes, 13% more than in 2017 (the previous record was set m
2016 - 4. 2 million tonnes).

According to the National Scientific Center "Institute of Agrarian Economics" exports of agricultural
products from Ukraine in 2018 increased by 5% compared to 2017 and amounted to a record of 18.8

billion dollars In2018agriculhu-al products accounted for39. 8%ofthetotal exports from Ukrame, being
the country's largest export market. It is noted that according to the estimates ofthe Instihite's scientists,
thedecisive factor for thetotal increase in the export ofagricultural products in 2018 wastheincrease in
supplies to the two key regions - Asia and the European Union. In particular, the volume of Ukrainian
exports to Asian countries in value terms increased by 4% compared to 2017 - up to 8 billion dollars. In

this case, the share ofAsiancountries in 2018 amounted to 42.6% ofexports ofUkrainian agricultural
products. In addition, in 2018, exports of agricultural products to the EU countries was also at a record
level. In value terms, the export of agricultural products to the EU countries amounted to 6. 3 billion

dollars against5. 8 billion dollars in2017. TheEUshareoftotalUkrainianagricultural exports lastyear
amounted to 33. 5%. India was the largest importer ofUkrainian agricultural products for the third year
in a row. The volumes ofUkrainian agricultural products delivery to India in 2018 amounted to 1. 8 billion

dollars, with India's share of Ukrainian agrarian exports rqiresenting 9. 9%. In addition, the main
consumers of Ukrainian agricultural products were China (1. 1 billion dollars), the Netherlands (1.1

billion dollars), Spain (1 billion dollars), Egypt (889 million dollars), Turkey (801 million dollars) Italy
(738million dollars), Germany(667million dollars), Poland(657million dollars) andSaudiArabia(589
million dollars). In2018, these countries represented more than 50% ofUkrainian exports ofagricultural

products. It isnotedthatgramcrops, oilseeds, seedsofoilseeds, meatandoffalwerethekeyproducts of
Ukrainian agrarian exports m 2018, whichaccounted for about 81%ofexports invalue terms.
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(in thousand GBP, unless otherwisestated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. 1. Basis of preparation

Theconsolidatedfinancialstatementshavebeenpreparedona historicalcostbasis,exceptforsignificant
items of property, plant and equipment which have been measured using revaluation model. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in British Pounds Sterling (GBP) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (£000) except where otherwise indicated.
(a) Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial

Rqiorting Standards,InternationalAccounting StandardsandInterpretationsissuedbythe International
Accounting StandardsBoard(IASB), as adoptedbythe EuropeanUnion (collectively "IFRS").
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certam critical
accountingestimates. It alsorequiresmanagementto exerciseitsjudgmentintheprocessofapplymgthe
Group's accountingpolicies. Furtherinformationis providedin Note3.
(b)

Going concern

Theseconsolidatedfinancial statements havebeenpreparedon the assumptionthatthe Group is ableto
continue its operations on a going concernbasis for the foreseeablefuture.

For the year ended 31 December2018, net profit amountedto approximately £0. 1 million (year ended
31 December 2017 net loss of approximately £1. 1 million). As at 31 December 2018, the Group
continuedto breachcertain loan covenantterms ofits loan withEuropeanBank for Reconstructionand
Development ("EBRD").

These conditions indicate a significant uncertainty with regard to the Group's ability to continue its
operations on a going concernbasis.

According to the Company's management, the Group's ability to continue its operations on a going
concernbasisis permissiblebasedonthe followingassumptions:
1.

The Group received waivers from EBRD - in respect of the annual fmancial statements for 2018
and the first quarter of 2019 and the Board believes that EBRD will not demand accelerated
repayment ofthe loan due to the breachof covenants;

2.

TheGroup continuesto repaythe loanto EBRDaccordingto the agreement andtimely setdedthe
lasttwo tranchesafterthereporting date;

3.

On 7 February 2018, the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement for a new loan

facility with PJSCCreditwest Bank ("Creditwest Bank"), underwhich it could draw down up to
UAH 65 million for refinancingpurposes (to repaythe OTP Bank Loan) as well as for financing
workingcapital ("NewLoanAgreement"). All amountsdrawndownby the Group undertheNew
Loan Agreement, together with interest accmed, is due to be repaid on 5 February 2021. The
interestrateundertheNewLoanAgreementis fixedat 18%perannum.Anydrawdownunderthe
facility is secured on appropriate collateral provided by the Group (real estate, equipment etc),
includingnon-current assets located in Zhytomyr andequipment for production ofZhiviyKvass.
On 9 February 2018, the Group announced that it had drawn down UAH 32. 3 million under the
terms of the New Loan Agreement in order to fully repay all amounts
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATEDFINANCIALSTATEMENTS
FORTHE YEAR ENDED31 DECEMBER2018

fin thousandGBP, unlessotherwisestated)

2. 1.Basis of preparation (continued)
(b) Going concern (continued)

outstandingto OTP Bank. Accordingly, the Group extinguishedall outstandingliabilitiesto OTP
Bank; and

4.

The Group is plamiingto raisefimdmg in H2 2019.

The Group's current strategy is to further expand its export sales worldwide with a focus on Asia and
Africa. CIS markets also remain strategically important for the Group not least Kazakhstan where the
Companyincreasedits exportvolumes. Ukrproduct is also lookingto expanddomestic salesinUkraine
driven in part by the introduction ofnew products and rebranding. The Group continues to boost its dairy
processing volumes via close cooperation with local farmers and cooperatives, thereby increasing its
capacity utilization.

(c)

Consolidationprinciples

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Ukrproduct Group Limited
and its subsidiaries as at 31 December2018.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Control is achievedwhenthe Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Specifically, the Group controls aninvestee if, and only if, the Group has:
Powerover the investee (i. e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct tfae relevant
activities ofthe investee);
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee;
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this
presumption and when the Group has less than a majority ofthe voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:
The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders offhe investee;

Rights arisingfrom othercontractual arrangements;
The Group'svoting rights andpotential voting rights.
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there

are changes to one or more ofthe three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when
the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control ofthe subsidiary.
Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the datethe
Group ceases to control the subsidiary
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2.1.Basis ofpreparation (continued)
(c) Consolidation principles (continued)

All inb-a-groupbalances,incomeandexpensesandunrealisedgainssaidlossesresultingfromintra-group
transactions are eliminated in full on consolidation. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,

without a changeofcontrol, is accountedfor asanequitytransaction,thatis, astransactionswithowners
in their capacity as owners. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
is attributed to the owners ofthe parent and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial

statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting
policies.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:
- Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities ofthe subsidiary
- Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;
Derecognisesthe cumulative translation differences, recordedin equity;
- Recognisesthe fair value ofthe considerationreceived;
Recognisesany investment retainedin the former subsidiaryat its fair value at the datewhencontrol is
lost;
- Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;

Reclassifiesthe parent's shareofcomponentspreviously recognisedin other comprehensiveincometo
profit or loss.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
Acquisition-relatedcosts are expensedas incurred.
Non-controlling interests represent a portion ofprofits or losses and net assets not owned by the Group.
Non-controlling interests are presented separately from parent share capital in equity in the Consolidated
statement of financial position.
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2. 1.Basis of preparation (continued)

(c) Consolidationprinciples (continued)
Consolidated financial statements ofthe Group include following companies:
Group's company

Country of
incorporation

Effective
ownership ratio

Principal activities

As at 31 December

2018

2017

Ukraine

100%

100%

Holder of some assets

Ukraine

100%

100%

Production

Ukraine

100%

100%

Owner of land assets

Molochaia Dolina LLC****

Ukraine

100%

100%

Owner of land assets

ZhiviyKvasLLC****

Ukraine

100%

100%

Production

Lider-ProductLLC***

Ukraine

100%

Sales & Distribution

Altematyvni investytsiyi UCVF**

Uta-aine

100%

100%

Asset management

Ukrproduct Group LLC

Ukraine

100%

100%

Holder of some assets and
operating companies

LinkStar Limited

Cyprus

100%

100°/o

Holder of Group's trademarks
and assets

Solaero Global Alternative Fund Limited

Cyprus

100%

100%

Holder of Group's trademarks

BVI

100%

100%

Export operations

MolochnikLLC*

StarokonstantinovskiyMolochniyZavod
sc****

KrasilovskyMolochnyZavodPrivate
Enterprise SC****

Dairy Trading Corporation Limited
Ukrproduct Group LTD

Jersey

and assets

Parent companytraded on
AIM

* The companies are held through Ukrproduct Group LLC which is a 100%-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

** Subsidiaries ofSolaero Global Alternative Fund Limited, the Group's holder oftrademarks and assets.
*** Therewasa legal actionagainstLiderProductLLCbytheUkramiantax services,whichconcluded
in May 2019. Currently, there is a processes of merging it to Starokonstantinovskiy Molochniy Zavod
SC. For this purpose, the company is unable to document the dissolution and mcorporate changes to
statute. The balance ofthis company was incorporated to Starokonstantinovskiy Molochniy Zavod SC in
2018.

**** SubsidiariesofAltematyvni investytsiyi UCVF.
Altematyvni investytsiyi UCVF is a limited life entity and is due to cease to exist on 5 April 2022.

32

Ukrproduct Group
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATEDFINANCIALSTATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED31 DECEMBER2018
(in thousandGBP, unless otherwise stated)

2. 1. Basis of preparation (continued)
(d) Reorganisation
During 2018 the Group has not been reorganised.

(e) Accounting for acquisitions of companies under common control
Acquisitions of controlling interests in companies that were previously under the control of the ultimate
beneficiaries of the Company are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning ofthe
earliest comparativeperiodpresentedor, if later, atthe dateonwhichcontrol wasobtainedbytheultimate
beneficiaries ofthe Company. The assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at their book values. The
components of equity ofthe acquired companies are added to the same components within Group equity
except that any share capital ofthe acquired companies is recorded as a part of merger reserve. The cash
consideration for such acquisitions is recognised as a liability to or a reduction ofreceivables from related
parties, with a corresponding reduction in equity, from the date the acquired company is included in these
consolidated financial statements until the cash consideration is paid.
No goodwill is recognisedwherethe Group acquiresadditionalinterests in the acquiredcompaniesfrom
the ultimate conb-olling shareholders. The difference between the share of net assets acquired and the
cost of investment is recogniseddirectly in equity.

2.2. Significant accounting policies
Significant accounting policies given below have been consistently applied by the Group in the
preparation of these financial statements, unless otherwise stated.

2.2. 1.Foreign currency transactions
(a) Functional and presentation currency
The Ukrainian Hryvnia is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the majority of
the Group companies operate.
Transactions in currencies that differ from the functional currency are consideredto be foreigncurrency
transactions.

Managementhas consideredwhatwouldbe the most appropriatepresentationcurrency for consolidated
IFRS financial statements and has concluded that the Group should use British Pounds Sterlmg
(hereinafter "GBP" or £) as the Group's presentation currency. This is because the Ukrainian Hryvnia is
not a major convertible or recognisable currency outside of Ukraine, and also because the Group's public
shareholder base is located predominantly in the UK.
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2.2.Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains or losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at the year-end
exchange rates ofmonetary assets and liabilities denommated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
statement ofcomprehensive income, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cashflow hedges and
qualifying net investment hedges. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the Consolidated
statement ofComprehensiveIncomewithin "Netforeignexchangegain(loss)".
The financial results and financial position of the Group's companies are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

- Forcurrent year, all assets andliabilities are translated atthe rate effective atthe reporting date. Income
and expense items are translated atrates approximating to those ruling whenthe transactions took place;
- Equity items are translated into the presentation currency using the historical rate;

- Forcomparativefigures,all assetsandliabilitiesaretranslatedattheclosingrateexistingattherelevant
reporting date. Income and expenseitems aretranslated at rates approximatingto those rulingwhenthe
transactions took place;

- Income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at monthly average
exchangerates; and

- All resulting exchange differences arerecognised asa separate component ofequitywithin "Translation
reserve".

The principal UAH exchange rates used in the preparation of Consolidated financial statements are as
follows:

Currency

UAH/GBP
UAH/USD

UAH/EUR

31 December 2018

35, 13
27, 69
31,71

Average
exchangerate for
2018

31 December 2017

36, 31

37, 73

27, 21
32, 12

28, 07
33, 50

Average exchange
rate for 2017

34, 29
26, 60
30,08

Foreign currency can be freely converted within Ukraine at a rate close to the rate of the National Bank

ofUkraine. At present, the UAH is not a freely convertible currencyoutsideUkraine.
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2.2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2.2. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks and other short-term
highly liquid investments with originalmaturities ofthree months or less. Bank overdrafits are included
in current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.

2.2.3. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower ofcost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course ofbusiness less
applicable variable selling expenses.
The Group identifiesthe followingtypes of inventories:
raw andother materials (includingmain and auxiliaryoperating supply and materials);
-

work in progress (including semi finishedproducts);

-

finished goods;

-

other inventories (includingfuel, packaging,buildingmaterials, spareparts, other materials, goodsof
little value and high wear goods).

The cost offinished goods and semi finished products comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct
costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes borrowing
costs. The cost ofraw materials and other inventories comprises all costs ofpurchase, costs ofconversion
andother costs incurred in bringingthe inventories to theirpresent location and condition.

At each reporting date the Group analyses inventories to determine whether they are damaged, obsolete
or slow-moving or whether their net realisable value has declined. The net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. The
Group periodically checks inventories to determine whether they are damaged, obsolete or slow-moving
or if their net realisable value has declined for any other reason and reduces accordingly the value of
mventory to properly reflect in the consolidated statement ofcomprehensive income within cost of sales.
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2.2. Significantaccountingpolicies (continued)
2.2.4.Property, plant and equipment
(a)

Recognition and measurement of property, plant and equipment

The cost ofan item ofproperty, plant andequipment is recognisedas an asset only if it is probablethat
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be

measured reliably and the entity expects to use the items during more than one period (more than 12
months).

The Group adopts the revaluation model (as defined in IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment) for all
classes ofassets, except officeequipmentwhichis carriedat cost. Managementbelieves thatthispolicy
provides more reliable and relevant financial information because it better reflects the value in use of
such assets to the Group.

All significantcategories ofproperty, plant and equipment are subsequentlycarried at fair value at the
date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses. Changes in fair value are recognised in equity (the "Revaluation reserve"). An
appropriate transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the retained earnings when assets are

expensed through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (e. g. through depreciation,
impairment or sale).

Subsequent costs that increase future economic benefits ofthe item ofproperty, plant and equipment also
increaseits carryingamount.Otherwise,theGrouprecognisessubsequentcosts asexpensesoftheperiod
in which they were incurred. The Group classifies costs, associated with property, plant and equipment,

forthe followingcategories:repairsandmaintenance;capitalrepairs, includingmodernisation.
(b)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

At each reporting date the Group assesses the carrying value of its property, plant and equipment to
determine whether there is any evidence that the assets have lost part of their value as a result of

impairment. If such evidence exists, the expected recoverable amount of such an asset is calculated to
determinethe amount of impairmentloss, if any. In case it is not practicableto determine the expected
recoverable amount ofa separate asset, the Group determines the expected recoverable amount ofa cashgenerating unit, to which the asset belongs.
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2.2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2.4.Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(b) Impairment ofproperty, plant and equipment (continued)
When, according to estimates, the expected recoverable amount ofan asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
lower than its carrying value, the carrying value of an asset (or a cash generating unit) is reduced to its
expectedrecoverable amount. Impairmentlosses are immediatelyrecognisedas expenses, exceptwhen
theassetis carriedatrevaluedprice. In suchcases,the impairmentlossis consideredasa decreasein the
revaluation reserve. Ifthe impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the asset's carrying value (or a cash
generatingunit) is increasedto the revised estimate ofits expectedrecoverable amount. In sucha case,
the increasedcarrying value should not exceedthe carrying value that could be determinedin casethe
impairmentlossforanasset(ora cash-generatingunit)wasnotrecognisedinpreviousyears.Thereversal
oftheimpairmentloss is immediatelyrecognisedasincome.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are
includedinprofit andloss on disposalofnon-currentassets.
(c)

Depreciationofproperty, plant and equipment

Depreciation of an asset begins when it becomes available for use. Depreciation of an asset terminates
withthe termination of its recognition. Depreciationdoes not terminate when an asset is idle or if it is
removed from active use and is intended for disposal, unless it is ah-eadyfully depreciated.
Depreciationis appliedto all itemsofproperty, plant andequipmentwiththeexceptionoflandandassets
underconstruction. The Groupcalculatesthedepreciationusingthe straight-linemethodto allocatetheir
cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The Group has applied
fhe production method of depreciation to all production equipment as management considered this
methodto be themost appropriatefor theproduction assets.
Terms of useful lives by groups of property, plant and equipment (except for those depreciated under
production method) are listed below:
Group of property, plant and equipment

Buildings
Plant and machinery
Vehicles

Instruments, tools andother equipment

Useful life
7 - 62 years
2 - 20 years
5-12 years
2 - 20 years

The assets' residual values, useful lives and methods ofdepreciation are reviewed at each financial yearend and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. Impact of any changes arising from estimates made in
prior periods is recorded as a change in an accounting estimate.

37

Ukrproduct Group
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATEDFWANCIALSTATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

fin thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)

2.2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2.5.Assets under construction

Assets under construction are reported at their cost of construction mcluding costs charged by third
parties andthe capitalisation ofthe Group's material costs incurred. No depreciation is charged on assets
under construction. Upon completion, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset
maybe impaired. If any such indicationexists, the Group performs impairmenttesting as described in
Note 2.2. 19. Unless an indication ofunpairment exists, all accumulated costs of the asset are transferred

totherelevantfixedassetcategoryanddepreciatedat applicableratesfromthetimetheassetiscompleted
and ready for use.

2.2.6.Intangible assets

(a)

Recognition and measurement of intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.

The Group recognises an item as an intangible asset if it meets the following criteria for recognition: it
is probable that the Group will receive future economic benefits associated with the asset and costs of
the asset can be reasonably estimated.

The Group identifiesthe followingtypes ofintangibleassets:
. Computer softwarelicenses;
. Trademarks.

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specialised software.
Trademarks are shown at historical cost.

An intangible asset is derecognised at disposal, or when the Group no longer expects receipt from this
asset of any economic benefits. The profit from cancellation or disposal is defined by the difference
between net proceeds on the sale and the carrying value of intangible assets. If the intangible asset is
exchanged for a similar asset, the value ofthe acquired asset is equal to the value ofthe disposed asset.
(b)

Amortisation and useful life

Costs of computer softwarelicenses are amortised over their estimated useful lives using the straightline method (1-10 years). The amortisation expense is included within administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement ofcomprehensive income.
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2.2. Significantaccountingpolicies (continued)
(b)

Amortisation and useful life (continued)

Trademarks have finite useful lives and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation

is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks over their estimated useful
lives (11-18 years). The amortisationexpenseis includedwithin selling and distribution expensesin the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(c)

Business combinationsand goodwill

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value ofthe assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embeddedderivatives in host contractsby the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fau-value as at the acquisition datethrough
profit and loss.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed
to be an asset or liability, wiU be recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments" either in
profit or loss or as change to other comprehensive income. Ifthe contingent consideration is classified as
equity, it shall not be remeasureduntil it is finally settled withinequity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess ot the consideration transferred over the Group's
net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If fhis consideration is lower fhan the fair value
of the net assets ofthe subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to testing for impairment as at the reporting date or more
frequently, if events or changes in circumstances mdicate the possibility of reducmg its usefulness. At
the acquisition date, goodwill is allocated to each asset or group of assets that generate cash, andbenefits
from which are expected to be receivedupon consolidation.
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2.2. Significantaccountingpolicies (continued)
(c)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The amount of impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount, which may be obtained
for a cash-generating asset (group of cash generating assets) to which goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount is lessthanthebookvalue ofcashgenerating asset(group ofcashgenerating assets),
impairment is recognised.

2.2.7.Financial assets

TheGroup classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
. those to be subsequently measured at fair value (either through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI"), or through profit or loss ("FVPL"), and
. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms ofthe cash flows.

Three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt financial assets are as follows:
1) Amortised cost: assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows

represent solely payments ofprincipal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income

from these financial assets is included infinance income usingthe effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other
operating income / (expenses). Impairment losses are presented in other operating income /
(expenses) or as a separateline item in the consolidatedincomestatement, if material.
2) Fairvaluethroughothercomprehensiveincome:Assetsthatareheldfor collectionofcontractualcash

flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets cash flows represent solely payments of
principal andinterest, aremeasured atFVOCI.Movements inthecarrying amount aretakenthrough
other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gams or losses, interest
revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

Impairment are presented in other operating income / (expenses) or as a separate line item in the
consolidatedstatement ofcomprehensiveincome, if material.
3) Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI

are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL
is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other operating income / (expenses) in the
period in whichit arises.
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2.2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2.7 Financial assets (continued)

(a)

Initial recognition

Financialassetsat fairvaluethroughprofit andloss areinitiallyrecordedat fairvalue. All otherfinancial
assets are initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs. Fairvalue at initial recognition is best
evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if there is a
difference between fair value andtransaction price which canbe evidenced by other observable current
market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique whose inputs include only data
fi-om observable markets.

All purchases and sales offinancialmstmments that require deliverywithinthe time frame established
byregulationormarketconvention("regularway"purchasesandsales)arerecordedattradedate,which
is the date that the Group commits to deliver a financialinstrument. All other purchases and sales are
recognised on the settlement date wifh the change in value between the commitment date and settlement

datenot recognisedfor assetscarriedat cost or amortisedcost; recognisedin the consolidatedstatement
ofcomprehensiveincomefortradinginvestments; andrecognisedin equityfor assetsclassifiedasassets
thatareheld for collection ofcontractualcashflows andfor sellingthe financialassets,.
(b) Fairvalue estimation principles
Fair value of financial instruments is based at their market value, established at the rqiorting date, less
transactioncosts. Ifmarketvalueis not available, fairvalue oftheinstrumentis determinedbymeansof
pricing anddiscountedcashflow models.

If a discounted cash flow model is applied, the determination of future cash flows is based on optimal
management estimations and the discounting rate is market rate for similar financial instruments

predominated asatreporting date. Ifthe price model is used entering figures arebased on averagemarket
data predominated as at reporting date.

(c)

Subsequent measurement

Afterinitial recognition, theGroupmeasurea financialassetat:
(a) amortised cost;
(b) fair value through other comprehensive income; or
(c) fair value through profit or loss.
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2.2. Significantaccountingpolicies (continued)
(c)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost aremeasured at amortised cost less impairment losses. Amordsed cost
is calculated using the effective interest rate method. Premiums and discounts, including initial
transaction costs, are included in the carrying amount of the related instrument and amortised based on
the effective interest rate of the instrument.

(d) Impairment of financialassets

The Group use a three-stage impairment model, based on whether there has been a significant increase
m the credit risk of a fmancial asset since its initial recognition. These three-stages then determine the

amount ofimpairment to berecognised as expected credit losses (ECL) at eachreporting dateaswell as
the amount ofinterest revenue to be recorded in future periods:
(a) Credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition - recognise 12 months ECL, and
recognise interest on a gross basis;

(b) Credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition - recognise lifetime ECL, and
recognise interest on a gross basis;

(c)Financial asset is credit impaired (using the criteria currently included in IAS 39) - recognise lifetime
ECL, andpresent interest on a net basis (i. e. on the gross carrying amount less credit allowance).
(e) Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognisedwhenthe rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or where the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
2.2.8.Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities into categories depending on the purpose for which the

liability was acquired. The Group hasnot classified any ofits liabilities at fair value through profit and
loss.

Financial liabilities held at amordzed cost include the following items:
- Trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities, which arerecognised at amortised cost.
- Bank borrowings, overdraflts, promissory notes and bonds issued by the Group are initially carried at
fairvalue, being the amount advanced net ofanytransaction costs directly attributable to the issue ofthe
instrument. Such interest bearing liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method, which ensures that any interest expense over the period to repayment is at
a constant rate on the balance ofthe liability carried in the consolidated statement offinancial position.
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2.2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2.8. Financial liabilities (continued)

Interest expense" in this context includes initial transaction costs and interest payable on redemption, as
well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding.
(a) Initial recognition

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, adjusted in case of borrowings for directly
attributable transaction expenses.

(b) Subsequent measurement

Trade and other accounts payable initially recognized at fair value, are subsequently accounted for at
amortized cost at effective interest rate method.

Borrowings and liabilities initially recognized at fair value less transaction costs, are subsequently
measured at amortized cost; any difference between the amount of received resources and the sum of

repaymentis represented as interestcostusingthe effectiveinterestratemethodduringtheperiod,when
borrowings were received.

(c)

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
expires.

2.2.9.Share capital

Theordinarysharesareclassifiedassharecapital. Thedifferencebetweenthe fairvalueofconsideration
received andthe nominal value ofissued share capital is recognized as sharepremium.
2.2. 10. Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
andthe revenue canbe reliably measured. Revenue is measured simultaneously with anincrease in asset
or decrease in liabilities, whichcausesthe increase in shareholder's equity (excluding the capital increase
through contributions from members of the enterprise), provided that the amount of income can be
reasonably estimated. Revenueis reflected in the amount of the fair value of assetsreceived.
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2.2. Significantaccountingpolicies (continued)
2.2. 10. Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue is the amount of cash or cash equivalents received or receivable. However, in case of delay in
receipt of cashor cashequivalents, the fair value ofthe considerationmay be less than receivedor the
nominal amount of cash expected to be received. When the arrangement effectively constitutes a
financing transaction, the fair value of the consideration is detennined by discounting all future receipts
using an imputed rate ofinterest. Revenue (proceeds) from sale ofproducts (goods, works and services)
is not correctedby an amountofrelated doubtful anduncollectible receivables. The amount ofsuchdebt

is recognizedas expensesofthe Group.
Revenue comprisesthe invoicedvalue ofsalesofgoods andservicesnet ofvalue addedtax, rebatesand
discounts after eliminating saleswithinthe Group. Revenues andexpenses are recognized on an accruals
basis.

(a) Revenue from sale of goods (products)

Revenuefrom the saleofgoods(products) is recognisedwhenall the followingconditions aresatisfied:
the significant risks and rewards of ownership ofthe goods have passed to the buyer;
- the Group is no longer involved in the management to the extent that is usually associated with
ownership, andhasno control overthe goods sold;
- the amountofrevenuecanbemeasuredreliably;
- it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and
- the costs incurred or to be mcurred in respect ofthe transaction canbemeasured reliably
(b) Revenue from sale of services

The revenue from rendering of services is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;

- inflow ofeconomicbenefitsrelatedto thetransactionis probable;
- the stage of completion ofthe transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably;
and

- the costs incurred forthe transaction andthe costs to complete thetransaction canbe measured reliably
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2.2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2.11.Expensesrecognition(continued)
Expense are recognized in the same period as the revenues to which they relate. Ifthis were not the case,
expenses berecognized asincurred, whichmight predate or follow theperiod in whichthe related amount
of revenue is recognized.

Expenses whichcannot berelated directly to a gainin a certainperiod, are shownas a part ofexpenses
ofthe period they were incurred in.

If an asset provides economic benefits receivable during several reporting periods, expenses are
calculated by allocating its value on a systematic basis over respective rq)orting periods.

Writing off deferred expenses is made on a straight-line basis within the periods to whichthey relate,
during whichthe receipt ofeconomic benefits is expected.
Expenses which were incurred m the reporting period but relate to production of semi-finished products
which will be further processed to finished goods and sold in future reporting periods, are accounted for
in the current period m the item "Work-in-progress",includedwithin "Inventories" in the consolidated
statement offinancialposition.
2.2. 12. Financial expenses

Interest expenses andothercostsonborrowingsto financeconstruction orproduction ofqualifyingassets
arecapitalized during the period oftime that is required to complete andprepare the asset for its intended
use. All other borrowing costs are expensed. Net financial expenses are recorded in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
2.2.13. Value added tax

VAT is levied at two rates: 20% on Ukrainian domestic sales and imports of goods, works and services
and0% on export ofgoods andprovisionofworks or servicesto beusedoutsideUkraine.
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2.2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2.13.Value addedtax (continued)
VAT output equals the total amount ofVAT collected within a reportmg period, and arises on the earlier
of the date of shipping goods to a customer or the date of receiving payment from the customer. VAT
input is the amount that a taxpayer is entitled to offset against their VAT liability in the reporting period.
Rights to VAT input arise on the earlier of the date of payment to the supplier or the date goods are
received.

2.2.14.Tax

Taxation has been provided for in the fmancial statements in accordance with relevant legislation
currently in force. The charge for taxation in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year comprises current tax and changes in deferred tax.
Current tax is the amount of income tax payable/recoverable m respect oftaxableprofiVtax loss for the
period determinedin accordancewithrules establishedby the tax authorities in respect ofwhichincome
tax shall be paid/refundable.
Current tax liabilities and assets are measured at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the
taxation authorities, using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted, or substantively enacted, by the
rqwrtmg date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in respect of temporary differences using the balance
sheet liability method. Deferred income taxes are provided on all temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities andtheir carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, except
in situations where the deferred tax arising on initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in
a transactionthat is not a dealto mergecompaniesandwhich, at the time ofits commission, hasno effect
on accounting or taxable profit or loss.
Assessment of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets reflects the tax consequences that would
arise dependingon the ways in whichthe Group assumes the rqiorting date ofrealisation or settlement
ofthe carrying value of its assets or liabilities.
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2.2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2.14.Tax (continued)

A deferred tax asset isrecognised only to the extent to whichfhereis a substantial probability thatfuture
taxable profit, which may be reduced by the amount of deductible temporary differences, will be
received. Deferredtaxassetsandliabilities aremeasured attaxrates, theuseofwhichis expectedinthe
period of the asset or liability is settled, based on the provisions of the legislation enacted, or declared
(andpracticallyadopted) atthatdate.

Deferred income taxes are recognised for all temporary differences associated with investments in

subsidiaries andassociated companies andjoint activities, except in cases where the Group controls the
timing of the reversal of temporary differences, and where there is a significant probability that the

temporary difference will not will be reduced in the foreseeable future.

The Group reviews the carrying amount ofdeferred tax assets at eachreporting date and reduces it to the
extent to whichthere isno longertheprobability thatthere willbesufficient taxableprofits, whichallow
to realise the benefits ofpart or all ofthis deferred tax asset. Any such reduction is restored to the extent
to which there is the likelihood that sufficient taxable profit is accmed.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

2.2.15. Share-basedpayments

Whereshareoptionsareawardedtoemployees,thefairvalueoftheoptionsatthedateofgrantischarged

to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the vesting period. Where the terms and

conditionsofoptions aremodifiedbeforetheyvest, theincreaseinthefairvalueoftheoptions,measured
immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income over the remaining vesting period. Where equity instruments are granted to
persons otherthanemployees, theconsolidated statement ofcomprehensive income is chargedwiththe
fairvalue ofgoods andservices received. Where fairvalue ofgoods andservices received frompersons
other than employees is difficult to identify, the fair value ofthe instruments granted is charged to the
consolidated statement ofcomprehensive income over thevesting period. The fairvalue ofoptions tobe
expensedis determinedonthebasisofadjustedBlack-Scholesmodel as set out in Note28.
2.2. 16. Pension costs

The Group contributes to the Ukrainian mandatory state pension scheme, social insurance and

employment funds in respect ofits employees. The Group's pension scheme contributions areexpensed
as mcurred and are included in staffcosts. The Group does not operate any other pension schemes.
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2.2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2. 17. Share issue costs

All qualifying transaction costs in respect of the issue of shares are accounted for as a deduction from
share premium, net of any related tax deduction. Qualifying transaction costs include the costs of
preparing the prospectus, accounting, tax and legal expenses, underwriting fees and valuation fees in
respect ofthe shares and ofother assets.

2.2.18. Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership. Leases other than finance leases are classified as operating leases.
(a) Group as a lessee

Operatingleaseexpensesarerecognisedasexpensesintheperiodtowhichtheyrelate, ona straight-line

basisover the leaseperiod.
(b) Group as a lessor

Operating lease income is recognised in "Other operating income" as income in the period to which it

relates, over the lease term on a systematic andrational basis.
2.2. 19. Impairment of assets

Inrespectofall assets,theGroupconductsthefollowingprocedures ensuringaccounting fortheseassets
at an amount, not exceedingtheirrecoverable amount:

- at each reporting date the condition ofthese assets is analyzed for impairment;
- incaseanyimpairment indicators exist, the amount ofexpectedrecovery ofsuchassetiscalculated

to determine the amount of losses from impairment, if any. If it is impossible to determine the
amount of losses from impairment of a separate asset, the Group determines the amount of
estimated impairment ofthe cash-generating unit, to which the asset belongs.

The amount ofexpected recovery is the higheroftwo estimates: net selling price and "value in use"of

the asset. In estimating value inuse ofasset, estimated firture cashflows are discounted to their current

value using a pre-tax discount ratethatreflects current market estimates oftime value ofmoney andrisks
related to the asset.
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2.2. Significantaccountingpolicies (continued)
2.2.19.Impairment of assets (continued)

If according to estimates the amount of expected recovery of assets (or a cash-generating unit) is less
than its book value, the book value of asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to the amount of
expected recovery. Losses from impairment are recognised as expenses directly in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

2.2.20 Contingent liabilities and assets

Contingent liabilities are potential liabilities ofthe Group arising from past events the existence ofwhich
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence ofone or more fuhire events, which arenot
under the complete control of the Group, or current obligations resulting from past events are not
recognised in the financial reporting in connection with the fact that the Group does not consider an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits, and required to settle liabilities as probable, or the
valueofliabilitiescannot bereliablydetermined.
The Group does not recognise contingent liabilities in the financial statements. The Group discloses
information about contingent liabilities in the notes to the financial statements except when the
probability of outflow of resources required to settle the obligation, is unlikely.
Contingentassets are not recognisedm the consolidatedfinancialstatements, but disclosedin theNotes
wherethereis a sufficientprobabilityoffuture economicbenefits.
2.2.21. Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity that is related to the reporting entity:
A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person has
control, joint control, or significant influence over the entity or is a member of its key management
personnel.

An entity is related to a reporting entity if, among other circumstances, it is a parent, subsidiary, fellow
subsidiary, associate, or joint ventu-e of the reporting entity, or it is controlled, jointly controlled, or
significantly influenced or managed by a person who is a related party.
While considering any relationship which can be defmed as a related party transaction, the Group takes
into consideration the substance ofthe transaction notjust its legal form.
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2.2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2.21. Related parties (continued)

The Group classifies therelated parties according to existing criteria m the following categories:
a) companies that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, exercise control over the

Group, are controlled by it, or together with it are under common control (this includes holding
companies, subsidiaries andfellow subsidiaries oftheparentcompany);

b) associates are companies whose activities are significandy influenced by the Group, but areneither
subsidiaries, norjoint ventures ofthe investor;

c) individuals directlyorindirectlyholdingordinarysharesthatgivethema possibilityto significantly
mfluencethe Group's activities;

d) keymanagement personnel arepersons havingauthorityandresponsibility forplanning, managing

andcontrolling theactivitiesoftheGroup, includingdirectorsandseniorofficials(aswellasthenon-

executive director and close relatives of these individuals); and

e) companies,largeblocksofshareswithvotingrightsofwhichareowneddirectlyorindirectlybyany
person describedinparagraphs (c) or (d), or a personinfluenced significantlyby suchpersons.'This
includes enterprises ownedbydirectors or major shareholders ofthe Group, and companies which
have a common keymanagement member withthe Group.
2.2.22. Fair value measurement

Fairvalueisthepricethatwouldbereceivedto sell anassetorpaidtotransfer a liabilityinanorderly

transactionbetweenmarket participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based

onthepresumption thatthetransaction to sell the assetor transfer the liability takesplace eitherin the
principal market fortheassetorliability, orintheabsence ofa principal market, inthemost advantageous
market forthe assetor liability. Theprincipal orthemost advantageous market must be accessibleto the
Group.

A fairvalue measurement ofa non-financial assettakes into account a market participant's abilityto
generate economic benefits byusingthe assetinits highestandbestuseorby selling it to anothermarket
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are

categorised withinthe fairvaluehierarchy, described asfollows, basedonthe lowest level inputthatis
significantto the fair value measurement as a whole:

. Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

. Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

. Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.
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2.2. Significantaccountingpolicies (continued)
2.2.23. Dividends

Equity dividends are recognised in the consolidated financial statements when they become legally
payable. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid. Inthe case of final dividends, this is when
approvedbythe shareholdersattheannualgeneralmeeting.
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires management to make
judgments, estimates andassumptions that affectthereported amounts ofrevenues, expenses, assetsand
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result m outcomes that require a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.
In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the followmg
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
(a) Estimates affair valueofproperty, plant and equipmentbasedon revaluation
The Group isrequired, periodically asdetermined bythe directors, to conduct revaluations ofits property,
plant and equipment. Such revaluations are conducted by independent valuers who employ the valuation
mefhods in accordance with International Valuation Standards such as cost approach, comparative
(market) approach and revenue (income) approach.

(b) Useful lives ofintangibleassetsand property, plant andequipment
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are amortised or depreciated over their useful lives.
Useful lives arebasedonthe management'sestimates oftheperiodthatthe assetswill generaterevenue,
which are periodically reviewed for continued appropriateness. Due to the long life of certain assets,
changes to the estimates used canresult in significant variations inthe carrying value. Further information
is contained in Notes 14 and 15.

(c) Inventory

TheGroup reviews thenetrealisable value of, anddemand for, its inventory on a quarterly basisto ensure
recorded inventory is stated atthe lower ofcost ornet realisable value. Factors that could affect estimated
demand and selling prices are the timing and success of future technological innovations, competitor
actions, supplier prices and economic trends. Further information is contained in Note 17.
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(d) Legalproceedings

In accordance with EFRS the Group only recognises a provision where there is a present obligation from
a past event, a transfer of economicbenefits is probable andthe amount of costs ofthe transfercanbe
estimatedreliably. In instanceswherethe criteriaarenot met, a contingent liabilitymaybe disclosedin
thenotesto the financialstatements. Realisationofanycontingentliabilitiesnot currentlyrecognisedor
disclosed in the financial statements could have a material effect on the Group's financial position.
Application of these accounting principles to legal cases requires the Group's management to make
detenninations aboutvarious factual andlegal matters beyond its control. The Group reviews outstanding
legalcasesfollowingdevelopmentsinthe legalproceedingsandat eachreportingdate, in orderto assess
theneedfor provisions in its financialstatements. Amongthe factors consideredin makingdecisionson
provisions are the nature of litigation, claim or assessment, the legal process and potential level of
damagesin thejurisdictioninwhichthelitigation,claimor assessmenthasbeenbrought,theprogressof
the case (including the progress after the date of the financial statements but before those statements are

issued), the opinions or views of legal advisers, experience on similar cases and any decision of the
Group's managementasto howit will respondto the litigation, claim or assessment.
(e) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax in several jurisdictions and significantjudgment is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there are many
transactions andcalculations for whichtheultimate tax determination is uncertain. As a result, the Group
recognises tax liabilities based on estimates of whetheradditional taxes and interest will be due. These

tax liabilities are recognised when, despite the Group's beliefthat its tax return positions are supportable,
the Group believes that certain positions are likely to be challenged and may not be fully sustained upon
reviewbytax authorities.TheGroupbelievesthatits accmalsfor tax liabilitiesareadequatefor aUopen
audityearsbasedon its assessmentofmany factors includingpast experienceandinterpretations oftax
law. This assessment relies onestimates andassumptions andmayinvolve a series ofcomplexjudgments
about future events. To the extent that the final tax outcome ofthese matters is differentthan the amounts

recorded, suchdifferenceswill impact income tax expensein the period in whichsuchdeterminationis
made. Further information is contamed in Notes 13 and 16.

(f) Quality claims

TheGroup suppliesconsumersandindustrialcustomers inUkrainewithdairyproductsmanufacturedin
accordance with the current laws, food safety standards and technical requirements of the relevant
Ukrainian authorities. The Group voluntarily applies non-domestic standards - ISO and HASSP - to
some ofthe Group's operations. Forthe industrial customers both domestically and outside ofUkraine,
the foodproducts are manufacturedto the technical specificationsagreedwiththe buyers in advanceof
the sale. In instances where the quality criteria and/or technical specifications arenot met or the delivery
ofproducts are made close to expiry date, a quality claim may arise and the correspondingcontingent
liability may be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
(continued)
(f) Quality claims (continued)

Realisation of any such contingent liabilities not currently recognised or disclosed in the financial
statements couldhave a material effectonthe Group's financial position. Application ofthese accounting
principles to quality claims requires the Group's managementto make determinations aboutthe future
matters that may, at the time of determination, be beyond management's control. Among the factors
consideredin makingdecisionsonqualityclaimsprovisionsare:thenatureofthe claim, thequantifiable
variancesin quality givingriseto a claim, the potential loss from satisfyingthe claim and anydecision
ofthe Group's management as to how it will respond to the claim.

(g) Transfer pricing

Starting from 1 September2013 the Tax CodeofUkraineintroducednew, basedon the OECDtransfer
pricing guidelines, mles for determining and applying fair market prices, which significantly changed
transfer pricing ("TP") regulations in Ukraine. The Group exports skimmed milk powder andperforms
intercompany transactions, which is in the scope of the Ukrainian TP regulations. The Group has
submitted the controlled transaction report for the year ended 31 December 2017 within the required
deadline, andhasprepared all necessarydocumentationon controlledtransactions for the yearended31
December 2018 as required by legislation and plans to submit report. Management believes that the
Grouphasbeenin compliancewithall requirements ofeffectivetaxlegislation.
4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRS

4. 1. New and amended standards and interpretations
The Group has initially adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers and IFRS 9 Financial
instruments from 1 January 2018.

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2018, but do not have a
significantimpacton theconsolidatedfinancialstatements ofthe Group.
IFRS 9 Financial instruments

IFRS9 wasissuedfirst in November2009 andthe last revisedversionwas issuedin July2014. IFRS 9
bringstogetherall threeaspectsoftheaccountingfor financialinstruments: classification,measurement,
andhedgeaccounting. IFRS9 is effective for annualperiodson or after 1 January2018.
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4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRS (continued)
IFRS9 Financialinstruments (continued)
Based on an analysis of the Group's fmancial instmments as at 31 December2018 on the basis ofthe

facts and circumstances that exist at that date, the impact of implementation of IFRS 9 to the Group's
financial statements is follows:

Classification offinancial instruments

The following table reconciles the carrying amounts of each class of financial instrument aspreviously
measured in accordance with IAS 39 andthe amounts determined upon adoption ofIFRS 9 on 1 January
2018.

Balance sheet (extract)

IAS39

IFRS9

31 December

Effect of

1 January

2017
£'000

adoption
£'000

£'000

(65)

2106

2018

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

2 171

Cash and cash equivalents

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

496

496

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

5 716

5716

Bank loans

Amortisedcost

Amortisedcost

1318

1318

Trade andotherpayables

Amortised cost

Amortised cost

3 565

3565

Non - current liabilities
Bank loans
Current liabilities

Reclassiflcation. The following debtinstruments havebeenclassifiedto newcategories withno changes
to their measurement basis:

- Trade and other receivables - previously classified as "Loans and receivables" and currently
classified as measured at "Amortised cost";

- Cash and cash equivalents - previously classified as "Loans and receivables" and currently
classified as measured at "Amortised cost".

All financial assets andfinancial liabilities continue to bemeasured atthe same basespreviously adopted
under IAS 39.

IFRS 9 requires to record expected credit losses on all of the financial assets (expected those fair valued

through profit or loss). The Group applies the simplified approach to recognise lifetime expected credit
losses for its trade andotherreceivables aspermitted by IFRS9. Thefollowing estimated reserve matrix
was used to determine expected credit losses for Group's financial assets:
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4.

ADOPTION OF NEWAND REVISEDIFRS (continued)

Trade accounts receivable

Expected loss rate

lessthan30

30to 60days

61 to 90days

91 to 120

120to 360

over360days

days overdue

overdue

overdue

days overdue

days overdue

overdue

2, 70%

19, 70%

21, 00%

39, 80%

7, 50%

100%

In general,the application ofIFRS9 doesn'thave a significantimpacton the financial statements ofthe
Group.

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and amended in April 2016. The new standard superseds all current
revenue recognition requirements under IFRS and its retrospective application is required beginning on
or after 1 January2018. Earlyadoptionis permitted.
Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. According to the new
standard a five-step model is established to account for revenue from contracts with customers.

The Group is in the business ofdairy products and beverages. Dairyproducts and beverages are sold on
their own in separate identified contracts with customers. Sothe sale ofproducts is the only performance
obligationin contracts with customers

The contracts do not contain anyvariable considerations or warranty obligations.
The presentation and disclosure requirements ofIFRS 15 aremore detailed than under previous IAS 18,
so the notes to the financial statements were expanded.

Thereafter apart from providing more extensive disclosures on the Group's revenue transactions, the
application ofIFRS 15 doesn't have an impact on the financial statements ofthe Group
IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Considerations

The mterpretation clarifies that, in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition ofthe
related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or nonmonetary liability relating to advanceconsideration, the date ofthe transactionis the date on whichan
entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine the
date of the transactions for each payment or receipt of advance consideration. This Interpretation does
nothave anyimpacton the Group's consolidatedfinancial statements.
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4.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS2 ClassificationandMeasurementof Share-basedPayment Transactions
The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based payment that address three main areas: the effects
of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the
classification of a share-basedpayment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax
obligations; and accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment
transaction changes its classification from cashsettled to equity settled. Onadoption, entities arerequired
to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, butretrospective application is permitted. These
amendments do not have anyimpacton the Group's consolidatedfinancial statements.
Standards and Interpretations in issue but not effective
IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16wasissuedin January2016. Thenew standardwill supersedeall currentleaseguidancewhenit
becomes effective. IFRS 16 is effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The
Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date.

IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentationand disclosureof leases
and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the

accounting for financeleases under IAS 17. At the commencement dateofa lease, a lessee will recognise
a liability to make lease payments and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during
the lease term. Lessees will be required to separately recognise fhe interest expense on the lease liability
and fhe depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Such approach should be applied to all leases
operation except leases oflow-value assets and short-term leases.
The new standard also requires to make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17.

Theseamendmentsdo not havesignificantimpact on the Group's consolidatedfinancialstatements.
At the date of authorization ofthese consolidated financial statements the following interpretations and
amendments to the standards, were in issue but not yet effective:
StandardsandInterpretations
Amendments to IAS 28: Long-termInterests in Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendmentsto EFRS9: PrepaymentFeatureswithNegativeCompensation
IFRIC Interpretation 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment
Annual improvements to IFRS 2015-2017 Cycle

Effectivefor annualperiod
beginning on or after

1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019

The Board of Directors is currently analyzing the impact of the adoption of these financial reporting
standardsonthe financialstatementsofthe Group.
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5.

FINANCIALRISKMANAGEMENT

The principal risks facing the Group's business are credit risk, liquidity risk andmarket risk, including
fairvalue or cashflow interest-rate risk andforeign exchangerisk. Themainpurpose oftheGroup's risk
management programme isto evaluate, monitor andmanagefheserisks andtominimise potential adverse

effects ontheGroup's financialperformance andshareholders. TheChiefExecutive OfficeroftheGroup
is in charge ofrisk management and mtroduction of all policies as approved by the Board ofDirectors.
(a) Principal financial instruments

The principal financial instruments used by the Group, from which financial instmment risk arises, are
as follows:

trade and other receivables;
other financial assets;

cash and cash equivalents;
bankloans;
trade and other payables;
long-term payables.
Theprincipal financial instruments are as follows:
Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018
£'000

2017
£'000

- trade and other receivables (excluding non-financial assets)

2960

- cash and cash equivalents

181
24
3165

2046
496

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost

other financial assets

30
2572

Financial liabilities

Financialliabilities at amortised cost:
- non-current bank loans

5208

- long-term payables

467

5716
459

current bank loans

2455

tradeandotherpayables(excludingnon-financialliabilities)

3808

1318
2171

interest payable

151
12089

55
9719

(b) General objectives, policies and processes

The Group's overall risk management programme recognises the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management
is carried out by the Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO) under policies approved by the Board of
Directors (the "Board"). The Group CEO identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation
with the Group's operating units.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The Board provides broad giudance and operating principles for overall risk management, as well as
written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest-rate risk, credit risk, and
investing excess liquidity.

The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Group's risk management objectives
and polices and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for

designingandoperating processesthatensure the effective implementation oftheobjectives andpolicies
to the Group's finance function. The Board receives monthly updates from the head of internal control
through which it reviews the effectiveness of the processes put in place and the appropriateness of the

objectives and policies it sets. The Group's internal operating auditors review the risk management
policies and processes and rq»ort their findings to CEO and the Audit Committee, if and when necessary.
The overall objective of the Board is to set polices that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without

unduly affecting the Group's competitiveness andflexibility. Furtherdetails regarding thesepolicies are
laid out below.
(c) Credit risk

Creditrisk is the risk that a counterparty will not be able to meet its obligations in fall whendue. The
Ukrproduct Group is mainly exposed to credit risk from credit sales to customers in Ukraine. The Group
manages its credit risk through the Group's risk assessment policy by evaluating each new customer
before signing a contract using the following criteria: trading history and the strength of own balance

sheet. The Group attempts to reduce credit riskbyconducting periodic reviews whichincludes obtaining
external ratings and in certain casesbankreferences.

According to the Group's risk assessment policy, implemented locally, every newcustomer is appraised
before entering contracts; trading history and the strength of their own balance sheet being fhe main
indicators of creditworthiness. While starting the commercial relationship with the Group, a new
customer is offered the terms that are substantially tighter than those for the existing customers and
stipulate, as a rule, the cash-on-delivery payments terms and no-retums policy (quality-related claims
exempted). Ifthe relationship progresses successfully, the terms are gradually relaxed to fall in line with
the Group's normal business practices and local specifics as required by the market.
The Group's periodic review includes external ratings, when available, and in some cases bank
references. Purchase limits are established for each customer, which represents the maximum open
amount without requiring approval from the CEO. These limits are reviewed quarterly. Customers that

failto meet theGroup's benchmark creditworthiness maytransactwiththe Group on a prepayment basis
only.

Quantitative disclosures of the credit risk exposure in relation to trade and other receivables, which are

neitherpastduenorimpaired, aremadeinNote 18.TheGroup doesnotratetradereceivables bycategory
or recoverability, as the Group's historical default rates have been negligible in the past (less than 5%);
essentiallyall tradereceivablesdueto the Group hadbeenrecovered.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(c) Credit risk (continued)

In the future, the default rate on b-ade receivables overdue is expected to remain stable or even fall
becauseinUkrainetheGroupdealsincreasinglywiththemodem-formatretailerswhosecreditworthiness
is conduciveto the paymentdisciplinerequiredby the Group.
Maximum exposure to the trade and other receivables component of credit risk at the rqi orting date is

the fair value of trade and other receivables. There is no collateral held as security or other credit
enhancements.

The Group's credit controllers monitor the utilisation of the credit limits on a daily basis by customer
and apply the delivery stop orders immediately if the individual limits are exceeded. The Group's
procedure for recovery ofthe trade receivables past due mcludes the following steps:
identification of the date and exact amount of the receivable past due, termination of all further
deliveries and forwarding to the customer ofthe details of the amount due and the notice ofthe failure
to pay - 3 days after the past due date;

delivery to the customer ofthe formal claim for the amount overdue andthe visit ofthe representative
ofthe commercial credit control department to the customer premises- 2 weeks thereafter;
filing a claim to the commercial court for repayment of the amount overdue and late payment fees - 2
weeksthereafter;

obtaining a court order for repayment of the amount due and collaboration with bailiff - 2 weeks
thereafter.

As a result ofthe credit control andrisk assessment procedures, the Group does not expect any significant
losses from non-perfonnance by the counterparties at the reporting date from any of the financial
instruments currendy employed in the business.

Credit risk also arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions.
The Group reviews the banks and financial institutions it deals with to ensure that standards of credit
worthiness are maintained.

Maximum exposure to the cash and cash equivalents and dqwsits with banks and financial institutions
component ofcredit risk at the reporting date is the fair value ofthe cash balances due from suchbanks
and financial instihitions. There is no collateral held as security or other credit enhancements.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Cash atbank and short term dq)osits are kept on the accounts m the following banks:
Bank

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018

2017

2018

Rating

Rating

£'000

JSCOTPBank

uaAA

Bank of Cyprus

B-

uaA+
caal
caa2

PJSC Raiffeisen Bank Aval
CreditWest
Other

A3. ua
uaAA+

Caa3

21
151

Caa2

Year ended
31 December

2017
£'000
267
191

5

23

179

481

The Group doesnot enter into derivatives to manage creditrisk, although in certain isolated casesmay
take steps to mitigate such risks if it is sufficiently concentrated.

The Group is also exposed to a credit risk with regard to loans issued to third parties, related parties and
employees. This risk is considered to be low and is managed according to the Group's risk assessment
policy.

The Group's exposure to credit risk, where the carrying value offinancial assets is unsecured, is as shown
below:
Year ended
31 December

2018

31 December 2018

£'000

£'000
Maximum exposure
(unsecured)

Carrying Value
Cash and cash equivalents

Year ended

181

Trade receivables

2865

181
2865

Other financial assets

24
3070

24
3070

Year ended
31 December

2017
£'000
Carrying Value

Year ended

31 December 2017
£'000

Maximumexposure

496

(unsecured)
496

1 997

1997

30

30

2523

2523

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is a function ofthe possible difficulty to be encountered in raising funds to meet financial
obligations. The Group's policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cashto enable it to meet
its obligations astheyfall duebymaintaining theminimum cashbalances andagreedoverdraft facilities.
TheGroup also seeks to reduce liquidity risk by fixing interest rates andhence cashflows onsubstantially
all of its borrowings. Detailed information is contained in Note 24.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Group's operating divisions (plants) have different liquidity requirement profiles. As the Group's
products have short-cycled andlong-cycled production, the liquidity risk ofeachplant is monitored and
managed centrally by the Group Treasury function. Each plant has a cash facility based on cashbudgets
with the Group Treasury. The cash budgets are set locally and agreed by the CEO in advance.

The CEO (and the Board, if requested) receives rolling quarterly cash flow projections on a monthly
basis as well as mformation regarding the daily cashbalances at eachplant andoverall. In the ordinary
course of business, the Group relies on a combination of the available overdraft facilities and cash

balances to fund the on-going liquidity needs. Capital expenditures are usually funded through longerterm bank loans. In case ofthe inadequate cashbalances andthe overdrafit facilities close to the agreed
ceilings, the Group is expected to revert to the emergency funding made available through temporary
freeze to the current portion ofcapital spending, immediate operating cost reductions, postponement of
payments to the third parties, and expansion of the overdraft ceilings. Although undesirable and never
occurring in the past, such emergency funding is the last resort on which the Group may have to draw
whileensuringthe ongoingcontinuityofthebusiness.
(e) Market risk

Market risk may arise from the Group's use of interest bearing, tradable and foreign currency fmancial
instruments. Market risk comprises fair value interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and commodity
price risk and is further assessedbelow:
ft) Interest-rate risk

The Group's interest-rate risk arises only from short-term credits, andis considered to be insignificant.
The Group analyses the interest rate exposure on a year basis. Detailed information is contained in Note
24.

A sensitivity analysis is performed by applying various interest rate scenarios to the borrowings. A
change of interest rate by 1 percentage points (being the maximum reasonably possible expectation of
changes in interest rates) would cause a decrease in interest expense by GBP -18, 500 (decrease 2017:1%-GBP 8,560).
(ii) Foreignexchangerisk
Regardless of the increase of sales in Ukraine, the Group's management believes that currency risk is

rafher high. This risk canbe expressed in the growth ofcurrencies ofdependent raw materials (vegetable
fats), packaging materials, energy resources and fuel. The Group does the best to mimmise this risk by
rq)lacing raw materials and other components. An increase in export sales is another step taken to deal
with exchange risks. All sales aremade in a stable currency.

Purchaseofrawmilk, mainsemi-processed products andothercomponents ofthecostprice areproduced
inUkraine andarerepresented inhryvnia. All Group's outstanding balances ofthetradeaccountspayable
are in UAH. Currency analysis is provided in Note 29
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5. FINANCIAL MSK MANAGEMENT (continued)

TheGroup hasa long-term loanfrom European BankofReconstruction andDevelopment ("EBRD")for
the purpose of modernising Starokonstantinovskiy Molochniy Zavod SC. This debt is denominated in
Euros. Therefore, the Group is exposed to the exchangerate riskthat lies inthepossibility ofEuro (EUR)
appreciation against Hryvna (UAH). The sensitivity analysis shows that EUR depreciation against
Hryvna by 3% would lead to an exchange rate profit of3% being GBP 169 thousand (2017 by 3%: GBP
204 thousand).
(iii) Commodity price risk

The Ukrainian economy has been characterised by high rates of inflation. This sihiation can result in
higher NBU rates that will increase the lending rate ofUkramian banks. The Group tends to experience
inflation-driven increase in certain costs, including salaries andrents, fuel costs that are sensitive to rises
in the general price level in Ukraine. The management of the Group believes there exists high risk of
Ukrainian minimum wage growth. In this situation, due to competitive pressures, it may not be able to
raise the prices charged for products and services sufficiently to preserve operating margins.
Accordingly, high rates ofinflation in Ukraine could increase the Group's cost and decrease its operating
margins. Minimization of risk can be achieved by means of rapid response to the market-growth rates
andthetimelinessofraisingpricesfor finishedproducts.
The Group controls the prices for branded products through timely changes of sales prices according to
themarket developmentandcompetition.

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk for skimmed milk powder ("SMP"). The price for
this product is determined by the world and domestic market. The profitability of SMP was adversely
affectedbyhigherrawmilkprices.
(f) Operational risk

Operational risk is a risk arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When
controls fail to work, this could have legal consequences or lead to financial losses. The Group cannot
expect that all operational risks have been eliminated, but with the help of control system and by
monitoring the reaction to potential risks, the Group maymanage suchrisks. The control system provides
an effective separation of duties, access rights, approval and verification, personnel training, and
valuation procedures.
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6. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICmS

The Group's definition of the capital is ordinary share capital, share premium, accumulated retained
earnings and other equity reserves. The Directors view their role as that of corporate guardians
responsible for preservationand growthofthe capital, as well as for generationofthe adequatereturns
to shareholders.

The Group's objectives when maintaining and growing capital are:

to safeguardtheGroup'sabilityto continueasa goingconcern, sothatit cancontinuetoprovidereturns
for shareholders andbenefits for other stakeholders;
- to identify the appropriate mix ofdebt, equity and partner sharing opportunities in order to balance the
highest returns to shareholders overall with the most advantageous timing of investment flows;

- to provide anadequatereturnto shareholdersby deliveringtheproducts in demandbythe customers at
prices commensurate with the level of risk and expectations of shareholders.

The Group sets the amount of capital it requires in proportion to risk. The Group manages its capital
structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk

characteristicsofthe currenttradingenvironment. The Group's coreassetsconsistpredominantlyofthe
property, plant andequipment- theresourcesthathaveproventheirabilityto withstandthecompetitive
erosion and inflationarypressure.

Inorderto maintainor adjustthecapital structure, theGroupmayissuenew shares,adjustthe amountof
dividendspaidto shareholders,repaythedebt, returncapitalto shareholdersor sell assetsto improvethe
cashposition. Historically, the first three methods were used to achieveand support the desiredcapital
structure. The Group monitors capital on the basis ofthe net debt to equity ratio (D/E ratio). This ratio is
calculated asnet debt to shareholder equity. Net debt is calculated astotal debt (as shown in the statement

offinancialposition) less cashandcashequivalents.
Traditionally, the Group's conservative strategy was to maintain the D/E ratio at 0. 6 (60%) maximum.

The Du-ectorsbelieve that for the Group, as anoperatingcompany anda public entity, the maintenance
of the prudent debt policy is cmcial in preserving the capital ofthe business.
As at 31 December 2018, the D/E ratio consists of approximately 8. 25
Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2017
£'000

Total debt

2018
£'000
8130

Less: Cash and cashequivalents

(181)

(496)

Net debt

7949

6997

Total equity
D/E ratio

7493

964

882

824,6%

793,3%
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7. SEGMENTINFORMATION

At 31 December2018,theGroupwasorganisedinternationally into fivemainbusmess segments:
1) Branded products - processed cheese, hard cheese, packaged butter and spreads
2) Beverages - kvass, other beverages

3) Non-brandedproducts - skimmed milk powder, other skimmed milk products
4) Distribution services and other -resale ofthird-party goods andprocessing services
5) Supplementary products - grain crops
The segmentresults for theyearended31 December2018areas follows:

Non-

Distribution

products ""--- ^^

°"o7her°""

Products

allocated
£'000

B.rln Sd
£'000

Averages

br±aaded ^c^a'^ SUPPlementary .,,i2L.
un;_
Total

£'000
1261
656

£'000
4792

£'000
2774

£'000
6564

Gross profit

21537
3040

(1 417)

671

227

Administrativeexpenses

(747)

(154)

293

(153)

(43)

(1 844)

(402)

1028

(429)

(152)

449

100

(96)

89

32

Sales

Selling and distribution
expenses

Otheroperatingexpenses
Profit from operations
Financeexpenses, net
differences

449

100

3177
(1 061)
(1 799)

(131)

Loss from exchange
Profit before taxation

(257)

£'000
36928

(388)

(131)
186

(494)

(494)

398

398
90

(96)

89

32

(484)

89

32

(484)

Taxation

Profit for the year
Segment assets

449

100

8818

(96)

1318

3338

Unallocatedcorporate
assets

Consolidated total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated corporate

8818
4169

1318

3338

liabilities

Depreciation and
amortisation

4169
301

915

915

915

14389
4353

8798

8798

274

274

9072

13425

184

Unallocated deferred tax
Consolidated total
liabilities

184
42

90
13474

182

525

The unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank loans, overdrafts and accmals.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2017 are as follows:

products

951

£'000
6620

£'000
3603

3304

456

(1377)

875

(524)

(86)
(132)

(41)
(62)

(93)
(178)

(1 480)

604

products

Sales

Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Selling and distribution
expenses

£.000
19351

(1 189)

Beverages

£. 000

branded

(25)

Other operating expenses
Profit from operations

Non-

Distribution
services and
other

Branded

1591

213

Financeexpenses, net
Income from exchange
differences
Loss before taxation
Taxation

1591

213

(1 480)

604

Loss for the year
Segment assets
Unallocated corporate

1591

213

(1 480)

604

7277

1243

2803

7277

Segment liabilities

2364

1243

2803
147

liabilities
Unallocated deferred tax
liabilities

Depreciationand
amortisation

2364
302

147
55

196

£'000

£ '000

£ '000
30525
3258

(287)

(1 031)
(1 561)

(131)
(418)
(437)

(156)
(437)

(1 250)

(1 250)

(2 105)
62
(2 043)

(1177)

Total

510

62

(1115)

902

902

902

12225

240

Uaallocatedcorporate

Consolidated total

allocated

11323

assets

Consolidated total assets

Un-

Supplementary
products

240

2751

8330

8330

262

262

8592

11343
553
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Secondary reporting format - geographical segments:
Year ended

Salesby country (consignees)

31 December2018
£'000

Sales by country (consignees)

£'000
Urkaine

17484

Azerbaijan

1253
2293

Urkaine
Azerbaijan

28 535
2189

Kazakhstan

1337

Kazakhstan

Kongeriget Danmark

1 062

Kongeriget Danmark

Mexico

876

Year ended
31 December 2017

Mexico

693
501
2378
1598

Holland

845

Holland

Moldova

692

Moldova

Turkmenistan

434

Turkmenistan

245

Egypt

333

Egypt

600

Georgia
Nigeria
Poland

301
165
156

Georgia
Nigeria

Canada
Other countries

Total

3

36928

689
1492

Poland

819

Canada
Other countries

229

251
30525

Total

Themajority ofthe Group'sassetsandliabilitiesare in Ukraine. Salesto the countries in Europerepresent
sales to international traders of milk powders located in Europe. These traders consequently resell the
milk powders to other countries worldwide.
The Group has no single customers that exceed 10% of total sales.
8. REVENUE
For the years ended 31 December2018 and 31 December2017, salesrevenue waspresented as follows:

Branded (including bonuses)
Beverages (including bonuses)
Non-branded products
Distribution services (including bonuses)
Supplementaryproducts
General revenue

Charge of bonuses
Total revenue (excluding bonuses)

Year ended
31 December 2018

Year ended
31 December 2017

£'000
22466
1450
4791
2856

£'000
19954
1066
6621
3708

6566
38129

31349

(1 201)

(824)

36928

30525

Bonuses are compensation granted to the Group's main customers within its distribution network.
Bonuses are accounted for based on a fixed percentage of the product sold by customers who comprise
retail networks and distributors. Cash compensation is paid on a periodic basis during the year.
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9. EXPENSESBY NATURE

Forthe years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, items of expenses were presented as
follows:

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018

£'000
(33 751)

2017
£'000
(27 267)

overheads etc.

(31 068)

(25 012)

Wagesandsalaries, social security costs (Note 12)

(2 264)

(1 814)

Cost of sales

Including:

Raw materials and consumables used, cost of goods sold, manufacture
Depreciation

Administrativeexpenses

(419)

(441)

(1 061)

(1 031)

Wages and salaries, social security costs (Note 12)
PR,nominatedbroker, secretary, legal services etc.

(438)

Security
Lease and current repair and maintenance

(90)
(65)
(49)
(44)
(38)
(34)
(22)
(16)
(56)

(428)
(176)
(70)
(69)
(53)
(44)
(8)
(22)
(29)
(12)
(120)

Including:

Bank service
Communication
Audit fees

Taxesandcompulsorypayments
Amortisation and depreciation

IT materials, household expenses, reading materials
Other

Selling and distribution expenses
Including:
Delivery costs
Promotion

Wages and salaries, social security costs (Note 12)
Lease and current repair and maintenance
Packaging

Veterinary certificates, medical examination, permits
Amortisation and depreciation
Impairment of inventories
Other

Other operating expenses
Including:
Impairment of trade receivables
Impairment of inventories
Penalties

Profit/ (loss) on disposalofnon-currentassets
Amortisation and depreciation

Wages and salaries, social security costs (Note 12)
Other

(209)

(1 799)

(1 561)

(517)
(417)
(394)
(131)
(82)
(75)
(78)
(72)
(33)

(380)
(308)
(411)
(141)
(60)
(58)
(79)
(82)
(42)
(156)

(131)

(53)
(42)
(19)
(4)
(4)
(9)

(10)
(23)
(105)
(8)
(4)
(3)
(3)
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10. NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAIN (LOSS)
Fortheyearsended31 December2018and31 December2017,netforeignexchangegain(loss), consists
of:
Exchange difference in trade and other receivables
Exchange difference in trade and other payables
Exchange ditterence m short and long credits
Effect of exchange rate changes and restatements on cash and cash
equivalents

(10)

Total net foreign exchange gain (loss)

(5)
(190)

72
362

(1 039)

(26)

(16)

398

(1 250)

11. NET FINANCEEXPENSES

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 financial income/(expenses) were
presented as follows:

Finance expense
Interest expense on bank loans
Net finance expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018
£'000

2017
£'000

(494)

(437)

(494)

(437)

12. EMPLOYEEBENEFITEXPENSES

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, employee benefit expenses were
presented as follows:

Wagesandsalaries(including keymanagementpersonnel)
Social security costs
Total
Average number of employees

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018
£'000

£. 000

2017

(2581)
(524)

(2 217)

(3 105)

(2 656)

852

899

(439)
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12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

Wagesandsalariesofoperatingpersonnel
Wagesandsalariesofadministrativepersonnel
Wagesandsalariesofdistributionpersonnel
Wagesand salaries ofpersonnel relatedto other operating expenses
Total

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018
£'000

2017
£'000

(2 264)

(438)
(394)
(9)

(1 814)
(428)
(411)
(3)

(3 105)

(2 656)

Wages and salaries of key management personnel:

For the year ended 31 December 2018, remuneration of the Group's key management personnel
amounted to GBP 131,4 thousand (2017: GBP 136, 7 thousand).
Key management personnel received only short term benefits during the years ended 31 December 2018

and 31 December 2017. The key management personnel are those persons remunerated by the Group
whoaremembers ofthe BoardofDirectors ofthe Company(Ukrproduct Group Ltd).
13. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Forthe years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, income tax expenses were presented as
follows:

Current tax charge - Ukraine
Current tax charge - non-Ukraine

Deferred tax relating to the origination and reversal oftemporary
differences

Total income tax expenses

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018
£<000

£'000

2

1

6

1

(8)

(64)

2017

(62)

Differences in treatment of certain elements of financial statements by IFRS and Ukrainian statutory
taxation regulations give rise to temporary differences. The tax effect of the movement on these

temporarydifferencesis recognisedattherate of 18%(2017:18%).
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13.INCOMETAXEXPENSES(CONTINUED)
Thenumerical reconciliationbetweentax chargeandthe product ofaccountingprofit multipliedby fhe
applicabletax rate(s) is providedinthefollowingtable.
Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018
£'000

£'000

2017

Profit before tax:
4

Ukraine

(149)

14
76
90

(1 032)
(1177)

Ukraine

(6)

(64)

Cyprus

5

1

(D

(63)

Ukraine

(6)

(63)

Cyprus

6

1

Cyprus
Other (BVI, Jersey)
Profit before tax, total
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the relevant
countries

Ukraine(2018: 18%, 2017: 18%)
Cyprus (10%)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to net income not
subject to tax and expenses not deductible for tax purposes

Tax charge

(62)
The weightedaverage applicabletax rate
Ukraine

18%

18%

Cyprus
BVI, Jersey

8%

Nil
Nil
0%

Nil
1%

There are a number of laws related to various taxes imposed by both central and regional governmental

authorities.Althoughlawsrelatedtothesetaxeshavenotbeeninforcefor significantperiods,thepractice
oftaxationandimplementationofregulations arewell established,documentedwith a sufficientdegree
of clarity and adhered to by the taxpayers. Nevertheless, there remain certain risks in relation to the
Ukrainiantax system: few court precedents with regard to tax related issues exist; different opinions
regarding legal interpretation may arise both among and within government ministries and regulatory
agencies;tax compliancepractice is subjectto review and investigationby a numberofauthoritieswith
overlapping responsibilities.

Generally, tax declarations remain subject to inspection for an indefinite period. In practice, however,
the risk of retroactive tax assessments and penalty charges decreases significantly after three years. The

fact that a yearhasbeenreviewed does not precludethe Ukrainiantax serviceperforming a subsequent
inspection of that year.
70

Ukrproduct Group
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

(in thousandGBP, unless otherwisestated)

13.mCOME TAX EXPENSES(CONTINUED)

TheGroup'smanagementbeUevesthatithasadequatelyprovidedfortaxliabilitiesintheaccompanying

financial statements; however, the risk remains that those relevant authorities could take different
positions with regard to interpretative issues.

During the period under review, the Ukrainian companies withm the Group paid royalties andinterest

charges onthe outstanding credits to another Group company - Solaero Global Alternative Fund Limited

(Cyprus) These payments were not taxable m Ukraine due to the existing Double Taxation Treaty

between Ukraine and Cyprus.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

In accordance with IAS 16"Property, Plant andEquipment", the Group carries out revaluations, with
sufficientregularity to ensurethatthe carrying amount doesnot differmaterially from fairvalue. An

independent valuation oftheGroup's property, plant andequipment wasundertaken byBGSAssets LLC
as at 31 December 2015. As at 31 December 2018, it is the Group's opinion that'the values haven't
significantlychanged.

The Group is dividedinto two cash-generating units (CGU).
Dairy production

Dairyproductions consistsofproductionassetsforbutter, cheese,proteinandskimmeddairyproducts:
- Production assetsofSEStarokostyantynivski DairyPlantandtwootherunitsinZhytomir andLetychiv;
- Group vehicle park used for raw material andproduct transportation;
- "Nash Molochnik", "Vershkova Dolyna" and "Narodny product" trade marks.
Beverage production

Beverageproduction combinesfheproduction assetsofLivekvass "Arseniivsky" It consistsof:
- Production assets of'Zhyvyi Kvass" LTD and,

- "Arseniivsky" Trade mark.
Main assumptions used in value in use calculation

Value in use calculation forproduction both dairyproducts andbeverages is sensitive to the following
assumptions:

Gross profit margin - Gross profit margin is based on 2019 budget value and takes into consideration
trends ofvalue indexes for 2018-2022.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Discountrate- Discountrateassumes current market estimatesrisks, specific for eachCGU, inclusive
of cash cost and individual risks and corresponding assets excluded from the cash flow valuation.

Discountratecalculation basedonspecific Group circumstances andoperational segment andbasedon
from Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC). WACC takes into account both loan and owned

capital. Thevalue ofownedcapital is calculated onthebasis ofpredicted return on investment ofGroup
investors. Specific segment risks are included in usage of separate facts ofbeta-testing. Beta factors are
estimatedannuallyusinggenerallyaccessiblemarketdata. TheWACCusedm themodel forbothCGUs
in21,5%.

Production value increase - is derived from published consumer price index for Ukraine or world price

tendencies for export product groups.

Increase ofrawmaterial price- forecast isobtained got from published consumer price index forUkraine.

Predicted increase data- thedataarebased onpublished industry research inUkraine andmanagement
estimates.

Assumption regarding business segment - in so far as the directors are aware, forecasts in relation to the

growth rate of eachbusiness segment arebasedon a comparison withthe forecast growth rates ofthe
Group's competitors.

Thegrowth ofsalesofbrandedproducts onthelocal market isrelated tothe development ofsales ofthe

brands "Nash Molochnik" and "Narodny Product". In 2018, the Group sales increased but exports
decreased due to the lower global prices of dairy products.

Industry forecast is not used for kvass (beverage) sales forecasting, as the Group produces the unique

product "Zhyviy Kvass" that has no competitors in Ukraine by its nature. The model is based on
management's forecasts including sensitivity analysis. Brand development plans include:
Extension ofbrand presence in distribution networks;
- Kvass in kegs sales increase;

Extension ofbeverage product range (production ofwhite kvass);
Thegivenproduct is dependentonweatherconditions.

Insofarasthedirectors areaware,thefuture cashinflow fromeachCGUisnotexpectedto bebelowits
acquisitioncost and, therefore, no impairmentconsiderationshavebeenincludedin the valuation.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, property, plant and equipment were presented as
follows:

il

II
11

ii3

f

-2

1

I

^1

u

'3

II

I

II

ifI

ji

ES

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£.000

£'000

Cost or valuation
At 1 January2017

250

2460

3974

636

777

8097

Additions

125
81

258

18

(9)
(75)

(10)
(17)
(88)

(31)
(955)

Transfers to/from AUG

Disposals
Exchange differences on translation to

(347)

125

thepresentationcurrency

(9)

(295)

(5)
(488)

At 31 December 2017

19

2246

3739

570

662

7236

At 1 January 2017

142

112

Depreciationcharge

124

222
197

109

110
62

586
492

(3)

(16)
(17)

(22)
(108)

Accumulated depreciation

Disposals
Exchange differences on translation to

thepresentationcurrency

(24)

(44)

(3)
(23)

At 31 December 2017

242

372

195

139

948

19
139

2246

3739

570

662

7236
139

(121)

32

54

33

2

(3)

(3)

(17)

(23)

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2018
Additions
Transfers to/from AUG

Disposals
Exchange differences on translation to
the presentation currency

2

167

279

43

49

540

39

2445

4069

643

696

7892

242
118

372

195
103

139

948

186

58

465

(2)

(1)

(23)

(26)

22

35

17

11

85

382
2063

591

1472

3478

314
329

185

39

511

6420

Net book amount at 31 December 2017

19

2004

3367

375

523

6288

Net book amount at 31 December 2016

250

2318

3752

524

667

7511

At 31 December 2018

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January2018
Depreciation charge
Disposals
Exchange differences on translation to

thepresentation currency
At 31 December 2018
Net book amount at 31 December 2018
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2018 the Group has no contractual commitments to purchase property, plant and
equipment.

Fixed assets with a net book value ofGBP 4, 872 thousand at 31 December 2018 (2017: GBP 4,829
thousand) were pledged as collateral for loans.

As at31 December2018anyprepaymentsforproperty, plantandequipmentwereincludedwithinAssets
underconstructionin the amountofGBP 16thousand(2017: GBP 1 thousand).
As at 31 December 2018 fully depreciated assets have been included within property, plant and
equipment with the original cost ofGBP 143 thousand (2017: GBP 78 thousand).

It's impracticable to provide information aboutthe carrying amounts ofall classes ofassets, except of5ce
equipment, as they were measured using the cost model without undue cost and effort.
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

As atthereporting dates intangible assets werepresented as follows:

Computer

Trademarks

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

28

920

948

currency

(3)

(79)

(82)

At 31 December 2017

25

841

866

27

265

1

60

292
61

currency

(4)

(26)

(30)

At 31 December 2017

24

299

323

841

866

software

Cost or valuation

At 1 January2017
Additions

Disposals
Impairment loss

Exchangedifferencesontranslationtothepresentation

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2017

Amortisationchargefor theyear
Disposals

Exchange differences on translation to the presentation

Cost or valuation

At 1 January2018

25

Additions

11

Disposals

(2)

Exchangedifferencesontranslationtothepresentation
currency
At 31 December 2018

11

(2)

2

50

52

36

891

927

24

299

323

58

58

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2018

Amortisationchargeforthe year
Disposals

Exchangedifferencesontranslationtothepresentation

(1)

(1)

2

21

23

25
11

378
513

403
524

Net book amount at 31 December 2017

542

543

Net book amount at 31 December 2016

655

656

currency
At 31 December 2018
Net book amount at 31 December 2018

The remaining amortization periods of the intangible assets are as follows:
Computer software 1-10years;
Trademarks 11-18years;
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15.INTANGIBLEASSETS(CONTINUED)

The Group performed its annual impairment test m December 2018 and 2017. The Group considers the
relationship between its market capitalisation and its book value, among other factors, when reviewing
for indicators of impairment. As at 31 December 2018, the market capitalisation ofthe Group was below
the book value of its equity, indicating a potential impairment of goodwill and impairment of the assets
of the operating segment. In addition, the overall decline in construction and development activities
around the world, as well as the ongoing economic uncertainty, have led to a decreased demand in both
the trademark "Zhyviy Kvas" and the trademarks within the "Dairy segment" CGUs.
Trademark "Zhyviy Kvas"

The recoverable amount ofthe trademark "Zhyviy Kvas" CGU, GBP 2 430 thousand as at 31 December
2018, has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections from financial

budgets approvedbyseniormanagement covering a five-yearperiod. Theprojected cashflowshavebeen
updated to reflect the recovering demand for products and services. The discount rate applied to cash
flow projections is 17.2% (2017: 24.4%). The growth rate usedto extrapolate the cash flows oftheunit
beyond the five-year period is 0 %. As a result of the analysis, management did not identify an
impairment for this CGU.

Group ofthe trademarkswithinthe "Dairysegment"
The recoverable amount ofthe three trademarks within the "Dairy segment" CGU, GBP 1 670 thousand
as at 31 December 2018, is also determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow

projections from fmancial budgets approved by senior management covering a five-year period. The
projected cash flows have been updated to reflect the decreased recovering for products and services.
Thepre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 17.2% (2017: 24. 4%). The growth rate
usedto extrapolate thecashflowsoftheunitbeyondthefive-yearperiodis0 %.As a result oftheanalysis,
management did not identify animpairment for this CGU
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16. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Forthe year ended 3 1 December 2018, deferred tax assets and liabilities were presented as follows:
As at 31
December 2018

As at 31
December 2017

£'000

£'000

262
26

363

Deferred tax assets at the beginning ofthe year

Deferred taxliability at the beginning ofthe year
Deferredtaxliabilityrecognisedin SOCIduringtheyear
Reduction in deferred tax dueto decrease inproperty, plant andequipment
revaluation reserve becauseofamortisation

Exchange differences on translation to the presentation currency
Deferred tax assets at the end ofthe year
Deferred tax liability at the end of the year

18

(25)
(39)
(37)

274

262

As at
31 December

As at
31 December

2018
£'000
2379

2017
£'000
1559

479
282
595
3735

369

(32)

17. INVENTORIES

As at the reporting dates inventories were presented as follows:

Finished goods
Raw materials

Work in progress
Other inventories
Total

109
389
2426

During2018,GBP22, 895thousand(2017: GBP23, 211 thousand) wasrecognised asanexpenseincost
of sales Inventories with a net book value ofGBP 2 thousand at 31 December 2018 (2017: GBP 318
thousand)werepledgedas collateral for loans.
18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables

Other receivables
Prepayments
Total

As at
31 December

31 December

2018
£'000
2865

£<000
1997

95

As at

2017

196

49
125

3156

2171

The Group's management believes that the carrying value for trade and other receivables is a reasonable
approximation of their fair value.
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18.TRADEANDOTHERRECEIVABLES(CONTINUED)

Maturityoftradereceivablesasat31December2018and31December2017ispresentedasfollows:
Neither past
Total
£'000

2018

2017

2865
1997

Past due but not impaired
91-120
61-90
30-60

due nor

<30

impaired
£'000
2429

days
£'000

259

29

1496

257

115

days

£'000

days
£'000

days
£'000

113

>120
days
£'000
145
14

Provisions were created for impaired trade and other receivables andholiday allowance.
As at
31 December

Impairedtradeandotherreceivablesatthebeginningoftheyear
Accmal / (Reversal)

As at
31 December

2018
£'000
222
65

2017
£'000

(314)

287

10

Effect oftranslationto presentation currency

247

(44)
(31)

Impaired trade and other receivables at the end ofthe year

220

222

As at
31 December

As at
31 December
2017
£'000
175
95

Use of allowances

19. CURRENT TAXES

2018
£<000
VAT receivable

Current income tax prepayments
Other prepaid taxes
Total

250
94
5

1

349

271

20. OTHERFINANCIALASSETS

Loans and receivables
Loansissued to related parties
Loans issued to third parties
Loans issuedto employees
Total

As at

As at

31 December

31 December

2018
£'000

2017
£'000
11

15

11

9

8

24

30

Loans issued are short term in nature, repayable on demand and are interest free.
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (EXCLUDING BANK OVERDRAFTS)
As at the reporting dates cash and cash equivalents were presented as follows:
As at
31 December

As at
31 December

2018
Cash on hand - on UAH

2

2017
£'000
15

Cash in bank - on UAH

173

226

£'000

Cashin Bank - in other currencies
Total

6

255

181

496

22. SHARE CAPITAL

As at the reporting dates share capital was presented as follows:
Authorised

Ordinarysharesof lOp each

As at
31 December 2018
Number'000
60000

As at
31 December 2018
£'000
6000

As at
31 December 2017
Number'000
60000

As at
31 December 2017
£'000
6000

Issued and fully paid at beginningandend ofthe year

Ordinary shares of 1Op each
At beginningofthe year
Ownsharesacquired
At end ofthe year (excluding
shares held as treasury
shares)

As at
31 December 2018
Number'000

As at
31 December 2018
£'000

As at
31 December 2017
Number'000

As at
31 December 2017
£'000

39673

3967

39673

3967

39673

3967

39673

3967

Treasury shares
As at

As at

As at

As at

31 December2018 31 December2018 31 December2017 31 December2017
Ordinarysharesof 1Op each
At beginningofthe year
At end of the year

Number'000

£'000

Number'000

£'000

3145
3145

315
315

3 145
3145

315

315

As at 31 December 2018 and31 December 2017 the Company held a total of3, 144, 800 ordinary shares
as treasury shares and the total number of ordinary shares in issue (excluding shares held as treasury
shares) was 39,673,049.
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23. OTHER RESERVES

At thereporting dateotherreserves werepresentedas follows:

Sharepremium

At 1 January 2017
Depreciation on revaluation of property,
plant and equipment

£'000
4562

Translation

Revaluation

Total other

reserve

reserve

reserves

£'000
(14 781)

£'000
3935

(6284)

(166)

(166)

£'000

Gainonrevaluationofproperty, plant and
equipment
Reduction of revaluation reserve

Exchange differences on translation to the
presentation currency
At 31 December 2017

(113)
4562

(14 894)

Depreciation on revaluation of property,
plant and equipment

(113)
3769

(6 563)

(150)

(150)

Reduction of revaluation reserve

Exchange differences on translation to the
presentation currency
At 31 December 2018

(8)
4562

(14 902)

Reserve

Description and purpose

Sharepremium

Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

Revaluation

(8)
3619

(6721)

Gains arising on the revaluation ofthe Group's property. The balance on this reserve is wholly
undistributable.

Retained earnings

Cumulative net gainsandlossesrecognisedinthe consolidated statement ofcomprehensive

Translation

Amountofall foreignexchangedifferencesarisingfromthe translationofthe financial

income.

information of Group entities to presentation currency.

24. BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS

On7 February 2018, the Company announced that it hadentered into anagreement for a newloanfacility
withPJSCCreditwestBank("CreditwestBank"),underwhichit coulddrawdownup to UAH65million
for refinancingpurposes (to repay the OTPBank Loan) asweU as for financingworking capital ("New
Loan Agreement"). All amounts drawn down by the Group under the New Loan Agreement, together
with interest accrued, is due to be repaid on 5 February 2021. The interest rate under the New Loan
Agreement is fixed at 18% per annum. Any draw down under the facility is secured on appropriate
collateral provided by the Group (real estate, equipment etc), including non-current assets located in
Zhytomyr andequipment forproductionofZhiviyKvass.
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24. BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS (CONTINUED)
On 9 February 2018, the Group announced that it had drawn down UAH 32. 3 million under the terms of

theNewLoanAgreementin orderto folly repayall amountsoutstandingto OTPBank. Accordingly,the
Group extinguished all outstanding liabilities to OTP Bank.
As at 31 December 2018 the Group hastwo loans: the loan from Creditwest Bank in the amount of 1 850

thousandGBP(inUAH 65,0 million) andtheloanfromEBRDintheamountof5, 813 thousandGBP(in
EUR 6,439 thousand).

During2018,the Group fulfilledits obligationsundertheEBRDloanin accordancewiththe agreement.
The Group completed installments ofpayments andin accordance withan agreement between all parties,
thepaymentofthe tranchein Decemberwaspostponedto subsequentperiods.
Fixed assets with a net book value ofGBP 4, 872 thousand at 31 December 2018 (2017: GBP 4, 829
thousand) were pledged as collateral.

Assetspledgedas securityfortheEBRDloanincludepropertyandlandin Starokonstantinov,equipment
for dairy production and production ofhard cheese, as well as trademarks.
Bank

EBRD
OTP Bank
Creditwest
Bank
Ukraine

Currency

Type

Opening

Termination

Interest

date

date

rate

Limit

EUR
UAH

Loan
31.03.2011
Credit line 09.08. 2011

30. 11.2024
09. 02. 2018

5-7%
2, 12%

£'000
7493
1139

UAH

Creditline 05.02.2018

05.02.2021

15,89%

1850

As At 31

As at 31

December

December

2018

2017

£'000

£ '000
6178
856

1 850

5813

7663

Total

7034

The average interest rate as at 31 December 2018 was 6, 15% (2017: 5,27%).
Maturity offinancial liabilities
Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018
£'000

£'000

2017

On demand

In less than 1 year
In more than 1 year

2455

1318

5208

5716

Total

7663

7034
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24. BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS (CONTINUED)
Interest rate profile of financial liabilities
Fixedrate

As at

As at

£ -000

£ '000

31 December 2018
£'000

31 December 2017
£'000

605

1 850

2455

1318

5208

5716
7034

Floating rate

On demand

Expirywithin 1 year
Expiry in more than 1 year

5208

Total

5813

7663

1850

Thecurrency profile ofthe Group's fmancial liabilities is asfollows:
Floatingrate

Fixedrate
liabilities

December 2018

December 2017

£'000

£'000
1850

£'000
1850

£'000

liabilities

UAH
Total

7663

1850

Totalasat31^

856
6178
7034

5813

5813
5813

EUR

Total asAt31

The book value and fair value of financial liabilities are as follows:
Book value asAt
31 December
2018
£ -000

Fair value asAt
31 December
2018
£ '000

Book value as at Fairvalue as at
31 December
31 December
2017
2017
£ '000_£'000

Bank loans
Bank overdrafts

7663

7663

7034

7034

Total

7663

7663

7034

7034

Reconciliationofliabilitiesarisingfrom financingactivities
As at 31
December

2017
Bearingloans and
borrowings
Interest

Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings

Financing Accrual of
cash flows

interest

£'OOU

Foreign

Effectfrom

exchange

translation to

move-

presentation

ment

currency

£'000

£'000

£'000

(384)

710

7663

£'000

£-000

7034

303

53

(383)

478

(5)

7087

(80)

478

(389)

As at 31
December

2018

151
718

7814
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25. TRADE AND OTHERPAYABLES

At thereporting datetrade andotherpayableswerepresentedas follows:
As at
31 December

2018
Trade payables
Other payables

Prepaymentsreceived

£'000
3546
262
807

As at
31 December

2017
£'000
1637
534
1 114

Accruals

140

146

Interests payable

151

55

Provisions
Total

102

79

5008

3565

The Group's management believes that the carrying value for trade and other payables is a reasonable
approximation of their fair value.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, provisions were presented as follows:

Holiday allowance at the beginning of the year
Accmal / (Reversal)
Use of allowances

Effect oftranslationto presentation currency

Holiday allowanceat the end ofthe year

As at

As at

31 December

31 December

2018
£'000

2017
£'000

79
180

163

52

7

(126)
(10)

102

79

(164)
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26. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share have been calculated by dividing net profit attributable to the ordinary
shareholders by the weighted average number ofshares in issue.
Year ended
31 December

Net profit/loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
Weightednumberofordinary sharesin issue

Year ended
31 December

2018

2017

£. 000
90
39673

£'000

(1 115)
39673

0,23

(2,81)

Diluted averagenumberof shares

39673

39673

Diluted earnings per share, pence

0,23

(2,81)

Basic earnings per share, pence

27. DIVIDENDS

Due to the business circumstances dictating prudence and cash conservation, the Board has decided not
to pay a final dividend in respect ofthe year ended 31 December 2018.
28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

TheCompany operates anequity-settled sharebasedremuneration scheme for employees.
2018Weighted

2017Weighted

average exercise

average exercise
price

price

Number

£

Outstanding at beginning of the year
Granted during the year
Forfeited during the year
Exercised during the year
Lapsed during the year
Change in option terms

Number

£'000
0, 100

130 290

0, 100

130 290

Outstandingat the end ofthe year
Exercisableat the end ofthe year

During 2018, the Group did not issue options to the third parties. Options that had been issued by
Directorsearlierwerevaliduntil February2017. Theywerenot exercised.
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29. CURRENCY ANALYSIS

Currency analysis for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out below:
Assets
Trade and other receivables
Current taxes
Other financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

GBP

EUR

Total

37

2960

UAH

USD

2778

144

279
24
175

70

349

3256

218

39

181
3514

5813
289

4201

24

Liabilities

Bank borrowings

Trade andotherpayable

1850
3 140

695

77

7663

Current income tax liabilities

Othertaxespayable
Total Liabilities

13
5003

13
695

77

6102

11877

EUR

Total

Currency analysis for the year ended 31 December 2017 is set out below:
Assets
Trade and other receivables
Current taxes
Other financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

GBP

UAH

usu

1919
194

125
77

30
241

251

271
30
496

2384

453

2843

Liabilities
Bank borrowings
Trade and other payable
Current income tax liabilities
Other taxes payable

2146

Total Liabilities

3025

2046

231

7034
2451

6409

23
9508

6178

856
17

57

23
17

57
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29. CURRENCYANALYSIS(CONTINUED)

14 % strengthening ofHryvnia rate against the following currencies as at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
would increase /decrease the amount ofprofits /or losses for the period by the amounts mentioned below.

This analysiswasconductedbasedonthe assumption thatall othervariables, inparticular, mterest rates,
remained unchanged. The change of GBP exchange rate does not have impact on the result as all the
balances in GBP are attributable to the Group's companies where GBP is a functional currency.

USD
EUR
USD
EUR

Increase/

Effect on income before tax in

Effect on income before tax in

decrease in rate

2018

2017

£'000

£'000

3%
18%
-3%
-18%

(72)

13

(1 091)
72

(1 153)
(13)

1091

1 153
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30.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A related party is a person or anentity that is related to the reporting entity:

A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person has
control, joint control, or significant influence over the entity or is a member of its key management
personnel.

Anentityisrelatedto a reporting entityif, amongothercircumstances, it is a parent subsidiary,fellow

subsidiary, associate, or joint venture of the reporting entity, or it is controlled, jointly controlled, or
significantly influenced or managedby a person who is a related party.
Transactions and balances between the Group companies and other related parties are set out below.
Remuneration of key management personnel is disclosed in Note 12.

Sales ofgoods and services to related parties andpurchases from related parties are summarised below
All sales andpurchases were with related parties under common control oftheultimate beneficiaries of
the Company
Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2018
£'000

2017
£. 000

Sales
Cost of sales

3

27

Administrative expenses

14

15

4

Otheroperationalexpenses

Balances due from/(to) related parties at each period end are shown below.
As at
31 December

Receivables and prepayments

2018
£'000
25

2017
£'000

13

63

24
11

Other financial assets

Trade and other payables

As at
31 December

In 2018, the Group's commercial relationships with the related parties comprised sales, purchases,

provision. Theterms andconditions forthecontracts withtherelatedparties weresimilarto theterms
andconditions applied indealings withunrelated parties. There wereno guarantees given to orprovided

by the Group to related parties and vice versa.

Theultimate controlling ownersandbeneficiaries oftherelatedpartieswereMessrsAlexanderSlipchuk
and Sergey Evlanchik.
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31. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Economicenvironment

The Group carries out most of its operations in Ukraine. Laws andother regulatory acts affecting the
activities of Ukrainian enterprises may be subject to changes and amendments within a short period of
tune. As a result, assets and operating activity of the Group may be exposed to the risk in case if any
unfavourablechangestakeplaceinpolitical andeconomicenvironment.
(b) Taxation
As a result ofthe unstable economic environment in Ukraine, the Ukrainian tax authorities pay increasing

attention to business communities. In this regard, local and national tax legislation are constantly

changing. Provisions ofvarious legislative andregulatory legal actsarenot alwaysclearly-worded, and
their interpretations depend on the opinion of tax authority ofGcers and the Ministry of Finance. It is
common practice for disagreements between local, regional andrepublican taxation authorities to arise.

A systemoffinesandpenaltiesforclaimedorrevealedviolationsexistsincorrespondingregulatorylegal
acts, laws and decisions. Penalties include confiscation of amount in dispute (in case oflaw violation) as
well as fines. These facts create tax risks, which means that the Group may be exposed to the risk of

additional tax liabilities, fines andpenalties. These risks far exceedrisks in countries with advancedtax
systems.

(c)

Retirement and other liabilities

Employees of the Group receive pension benefits from the Pension Fund, a Ukrainian Government

organization in accordance withthe applicable laws andregulations ofUkraine. The Group is required
to contribute a specified percentage ofthe payroll to the Pension Fund to finance the benefits. The only

obligation of the Group with respect to this pension plan is to make the specified contributions from
salaries. As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Group had no liabilities for supplementary pensions,
health care, insurance benefits or retirement indemiuties to its current or former employees.
(d)

Compliance with covenants

TheGroup is subjectto certaincovenantsrelatedprimarilytoitsborrowings.Non-compliance withsuch
covenants may result in negative consequences for the Group. As at 31 December 2018 and as at 31
March2019theGrouphadbeenm breachofcertaincovenantsregardingtheloanwithEBRD.ButEBRD
have provided waivers in respect ofthese breaches and therefore no further commitments/contingencies
have arisen. The covenants breachedincluded: Bank Debtto EBFTDAratio.
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31. COMMITMENTSAND CONTINGENCIES(CONTINUED)
(e) Litigationsand claims

The Group's operations and financial position will continue to be affected by Ukrainian political
developments including the application of existing and future legislation and tax regulations.

ManagementbelievesthattheGrouphascompliedwithallregulationsandpaidoraccruedalltaxesthat
are applicable. In the ordinary course ofbusiness, the Group is subject to various legal actions and

complaints. Management believes that the ultimate liability, if any arismg from such actions or
complaints willnoFhave a material adverse effectonthefinancial condition ortheresults oftheGroup's

operations.Wheretheriskofoutflowofresourcesisprobable,theGrouphasaccmedliabilitiesbasedon
management's best estimate.

(f) Other
The amountofuncancellableleasecommitments is insignificant.

As of31 December 2018 the Group does not possess any finance lease andhire purchase commitments,
capital commitments and guarantees.
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32. SUBSEQUENTEVENTS
(a) EBRD - breach of loan covenants

As at 31 December 2018 the Group had been in breach of certain covenants regarding the loan with
EBRD. The Group was still inbreachofsuchcovenants asat 31 March2019, however EBRDprovided
waivers in respect ofthese breaches, therefore no further commitments or contingencies have arisen.
The covenants included Debt service coverage ratio and Bank debt to EBITDA ratio.
(b) Reorganization

In the first half of 2019, the Group started the process of merging Lider Product LLC to
Starokonstantinovskiy Molochniy Zavod SC in relation to a restructurmg plan agreed with EBRD.
(c) Installment

In Ql 2019, the Company paid EBRD 167 500 EUR plus an interest payment of 39 644 EUR. In Q2
2019, the Company, under the terms ofits agreement with EBRD, agreed to deferpayment of 150 000
EUR, resulting in a payment of 17 500 EURplus an interest payment of40 116 EUR.
(d) Foreign exchangerates

Post year end, the Ukrainian Hryvnia continued to depreciate against the EUR, GBP. However, the
Ukrainian Hryvnia strengthened against the US dollar. In particular, according to the National Bank of
Ukraine the following are key exchange rates:
Currency
UAH/GBP

UAH/USD
UAH/EUR

26 June 2019
33. 17
26. 16
29. 73
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